

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

CANADIAN THESES

# NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

# THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

#### Services des thèses canadiennes

THESES CANADIENNES

## AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'univer-, sité qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SHC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

> LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE



National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Division

anadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

## PERMISSION TO MICROFILM - AUTORISATION DE MICROFILMER

Division des thèses canadiennes

Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier

Full Name of Author - Nom complet de Fauteur

ANN MACPHERSON Cox

Country of Birth - Lieu de naissance

Canada

Permanent Address — Résidence fixe

Date of Birth - Date de naissance

817 Tower · Road Halijan, Novia Scotta B3H 241

Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse

EFFECTS OF VARIATION IN REST INTERVAL and ELECTRODE PLACEMENT ON ISOMETRIC TORQUES INDUCED BY ELECTRICAL STIMULATION

University-Université University of Alberta		
Degree for which thesis was presented — Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée	,	
M.Sc	-	

Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade	Name of Supervisor — Nom du directeur de thèse
- 1984 -	Dr. Sture Mendryk

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

٢

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÉ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Date		Signature
	aug 15/84	An Cox
	$\mathcal{I}$	

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Effects of Variation in Rest Interval and Electrode Placement on Isometric Torques Induced by

**Electrical Stimulation** 



A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

# IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF Master of Science

Department of Physical Education and Sport Studies



#### EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall, 1984

#### THF UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA.

#### RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR TITLE OF THESIS Ann M. Coλ

Effects of Variation in Rest Interval and Electrode Placement on Isometric Torques Induced by Electrical Stimulation

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Master of Science

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED Fall, 1984

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED) Ann Cox

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

817 Jower Road Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 2Y1

DATED August 10 1984

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Effects of Variation in Rest Interval and Electrode Placement on Isometric Torques Induced by Electrical Stimulation submitted by Ann M. Cox in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

monobugh rviso

quest 10, 1984 Date....

ABSTRACT

Electrical muscle stimulation (EMS) is a useful modality in the rehabilitation of injured muscles and traumatized joints. The present study investigated the effect of varying the rest period between isometric, electrically induced contractions of the knee extensor muscles. Rest intervals of 35, 50 and 65s were selected. The present investigation also compared the torques produced by two indirect mothods of electrode pad placement. A faradic current generated by the TECA SP5/T stimulator was used in this study.

Thirty healthy university-aged males were randomly assigned to one of two indirect methods of pad placement. Group 1 received the electric current via the lumbo-sacral plexus and the femoral nerve while group 2 received the stimulation via the femoral nerve and the motor points of the quadriceps. In the three test sessions, the subjects were required to produce 10 consecutive stimulated knee extension torques. No voluntary effort on the part of the subject was desired. For each test session the subjects performed the task with a different rest interval interspersed between the consecutive torques. All subjects were randomly assigned a sequence order of rest intervals prior to testing. Maximal isometric torques for the 10 consecutive stimulated contractions of knee extension were measured by a Cybex II isokinetic dynamometer at 60 degrees of knee flexion.

A two-way analysis of variance (2-way ANOVA) with repeated measures on rest interval was used to examine the mean torque decrements, mean torques and peak torques. The results of the study showed that the 50s and 65s rest intervals produced less torque decrement than was produced with the 35s interval ( $p\leq0.05$  and  $p\leq0.01$  respectively). Additionally, the 65s rest interval produced a greater mean torque than was produced with the 35s rest interval ( $p\leq0.05$ ). Comparing the torques produced by the two pad placements revealed that pad placement group 1 produced greater torque decrement and greater peak torque than were produced by pad placement group 2 ( $p\leq0.01$  and  $p\leq0.05$  respectively). This study also observed that the average torques of the initial three and five stimulations were greater than the

iv

average torques of the final three and five stimulations respectively  $(p \le 0.001)$ .

÷.,

The conclusions drawn from the present study were: i) the 50s and 65s rest intervals interspersed between the 10 consecutive 10s stimulated contractions provided the best stimulus for improving muscular strength as these intervals provided greater mean torques and less torque decrements when compared to the 35s rest interval; and ii) pad placement group 1 provided a more optimal strength training stimulus as this placement generated greater peak torques and greater torque decrements than those generated by pad placement group 2.

education.

	education.								
	s		· •						
			•				 		
				•		ì			
		.1	۰ <u>ـ</u>					,	
	ı.		•						
	•			• .	•				
	•								
	?								
	, ,					•	• ·		
• .		-	2			•	•		•
			1.						1
	. • . •								
		**		e					
			-					, ,	•
	1		`		1				
	٢	•			3				
				•• I .					16
							•		-
		*							
•							-	х	
•									
		•	•				•		
							*		
									•
					٠	•			
	i -								
		• •			•				
					2010) 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 - 1910 -				
				•			•		
			•		٩				
<b></b>			•						
▲ .								ۍ ١	
				• vi					

To my parents, Marg and Bill, who have been so supportive throughout my years of

s and the second se

e

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The years that I have spent at the University of Alberta have proven to be challenging in many respects. It is appropriate, at this time, to acknowlegde those people who have contributed not only to the completion of this thesis but also to the success of my "western" experience.

I wish to thank my Commitee Chairman, Dr. Steve Mendryk, for his support and continuous assistance throughout my years as a graduate student. I am also grateful for the guidance and enthusiasm that I received from Dr. John Kramer and Dr. Steve Hunka, my other committee members.

A special mention must go to the co-operative staff of the Research and Training Center for the Physically Disabled who made my collection of data not only possible but also provided a pleasant atmosphere in which to work.

Much of my development professionally has occurred as a result of my association with the Athletic Injuries Clinic. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Ray Kelly who took, me "under his wings" and provided me with the knowledge required to be a successful athletic therapist. I am also indebted to his staff, past and present, who have contributed to my experiences both "on and off the field". Special thanks is extended to Dave Lindsay, Nancy Jette, Joan Wilson, Heather Hartsell, and in particular, to Jane Cameron who has given the support and guidance that only a true friend could give.

My appreciation is also offered to Therese Quigley for her friendship.

vii

T	able	of	Contents

	Table of Contents	
Chapter		Page
I. INTR	ODUCTION	1
	A. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	
	B. SUBPROBLEM	
•	C. HYPOTHESES	میں ہوئی۔ میں نئیہ <b>4</b> میں ہے۔ بور جنہ اندر اندرو
	D. DELIMITATIONS	-5 
	T LIMITATIONS	
ĩ,	F. EXPLANATION OF TERMS	
II. REVI	EW OF LITERATURE	9
	PHYSIOLOGY OF NERVE CONDUCTION	15
	MUSCLE BIOENERGETICS	16
L.	PHYSIOLOGY OF MUSCLE CONTRACTION	18
	RECRUITMENT ORDER OF MOTOR UNITS	
	MUSCULAR FATIGUE	24
	BLOOD FLOW AND FATIGUE	
•	DURATION OF ISOMETRIC CONTRACTION	29
	REPEATED MUSCULAR CONTRACTIONS	
	RECOVERY FROM REPEATED MUSCULAR CONTRACTIONS	32
	QUADRICEPS FUNCTION	
	SURFACE ELECTRODES FOR STIMULATION	
	ELECTRICAL MUSCLE STIMULATION STUDIES	
III. METH	HODOLOGY	42
	A. SUBJECTS	42
	B. MEASUREMENT APPARATUS	42
	C. CALIBRATION	43
<b>`</b>	D. ELECTRICAL MUSCLE STIMULATOR	43

• "

.

	E. TESTING PROCEDURE	44
	F. STATISTICAL DESIGN	47
IV. Ř	ESULTS	48
V. D	DISCUSSION	56
VI.SU	UMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	63
	ED REFERENCES	
APPEND	DIX 1	72
	DIX 2	
APPEND	DIX 3	79
APPEND	DIX 4	

ix

2

Q.

# LIST OF TABLES

41

TABLE		PAGE	-
I	Torque Decrement Means (ft-lb) with Standard		
2	Deviations for Pad Placement (A) and	м.,	
• (***) 1,7	Rest Interval (B) for Data 1	49	
II	Torque Decrement Means (ft-lb) with Standard	· .	
	Deviations for Pad Placement (A) and		4
	Rest Interval (B) for Data 2	49	
III	Mean Torque Means (ft-lb) with Standard	•	•
	Deviations for Pad Placement (A) and		
	Rest Interval (B) for Data 3	50	•
IV	Peak Torque Means (ft-lb) with Standard		
<b>N</b> - 1	Deviations for Pad Placement (A) and		Ő
	Rest Interval (B) for Data 4	- 50	
V	Score Means (ft-lb) with Standard	. • • •	
	Deviations for Pad Placement (A)		د
	and Rest Interval (B) for Data 1	54	
VI	Score Means (ft-lb) with Standard	χ. ·	
•	Deviations for Pad Placement (A)		
	and Rest Interval (B) for Data 2	55	

x

# LIST OF FIGURES FIGURE PÁGE 1 Torque Decrements for Data 1 (a) 0 and Data 2 (b)..... 51 Mean Torques for Data 3 (a) and 2 Peak Torques for Data 4 (b) ..... 52 ÷, Я хi

#### Chapter I

#### INTRODUCTION

Electrical stimulation of the nervous system is inherently unnatural. However, its use, no matter how crude, dates back almost 2000 years. As early as 46 A.D. the first form of electrical stimulation was used for medical purposes.<sup>50</sup> A special organ of the torpedo fish produced an electric charge which was used to shock prey and deter predators. The electrical discharge of this fish was suggested for the treatment of pain, and specifically for headache and gout.<sup>41</sup> This practice has been documented in the works of the first Roman physician, Scribonius Largus, who prescribed the following treatment for headache:

Headache, even if it is chronic and unbearable, is taken away and remedied forever by a live black torpedo placed on the spot which is in pain, until the pain ceases. As soon as the numbness has been felt the remedy should be removed lest the ability to feel be taken from the part.<sup>41</sup>

Since that time the therapeutic use of electrical stimulation has grown immensely to include treatment of angina pectoris, constipation, epilepsy, hemiplegia, paralysis, sciatica, scoliosis, and spasticity.<sup>5</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>31</sup> The method of application has also progressed greatly. By the early eighteen hundreds, electrical acupunture and hydroelectric baths had become popular. Implantations of electrical devices in the form of pacemake<sup>re</sup> were marketed in the mid-twentieth century.<sup>41</sup>

Today electricity continues to be invaluable in the treatment of disease. Surface electrical stimulation has been used very successfully in the rehabilitation of muscle atrophy in recent years.<sup>24 30 35 41</sup> Weakness and pain often makes it impossible for a voluntary contraction, to occur. Increasing the strength and bulk of a weakened, painful muscle as well as re-educating a muscle action, increasing blood supply, improving venous and lymphatic drainage and preventing and loosening adhesions all have been common conditions treated with modern electrical apparatus.<sup>27 41</sup>

The latest applications of electric current have focused on the strengthening of healthy muscle. Athletes are now adopting electrical muscle stimulation (EMS) as a new method of training in an attempt to gain an advantage over their competitors.<sup>45</sup> <sup>11</sup> No longer is it the sole responsibility of physiotherapists and rehabilitation specialists to understand and discover the potential of EMS. Physical educators are faced with the challenge of evaluating the potential for using electricity to their advantage in the field of athletics.

Much of the purported success of EMS as a means of enhancing athletic performance can be traced to the work conducted by Kots,<sup>52</sup> <sup>53</sup> a Russian neurologist. Kots<sup>52</sup> has reported that up to 30% greater isometric force can be produced during an electrically induced muscular contraction, and that a 30-40% increase in muscular strength has occurred following as few as 20 sessions of EMS. The basis for this claim is that electrically induced muscular contractions can recruit more of the muscle fibers in a muscle than can be achieved by a maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), resulting in a higher tension being developed within the muscle.<sup>52</sup> <sup>53</sup>

To produce muscular strength increases of this magnitude, Kots has utilized what is now termed, the "Russian Technique" of EMS. This technique consists of stimulating the muscle for 10 seconds (s) duration causing a maximal isometric contraction. Ten seconds was reported by Kots to be the appropriate duration for the stimulation, as a maximally stimulated isometric contraction can be maintained for 12.5s ( $\pm$ 1.8) before the muscle begins to lose tension - that is fittigue.<sup>53</sup> Ten electrically stimulated contractions interrupted by 50s rest periods, constitute a single treatment session. Fifty seconds rest interval, according to Kots,<sup>52</sup> was an adequate interval between contractions to allow subsequent contractions to be maximal for the full 10s. The "10/50/10" protocol, therefore, represented the maximal workload that a muscle could tolerate in one treatment - 10 maximal efforts, each of 10s duration, could only be completed if a 50s rest interval was between efforts.<sup>52</sup>

Q

In North America, little research has been conducted to examine Kots' unprecedented mode of training. Difficulty in verifying the Russian results mainly arises from the limited information made available regarding the criteria specified by Kots. Details concerning exact

properties of the electrical current and method of electrode pad placement used by the Russian researchers have not been published on this continent. It is thought that a high frequency (1600-2500 cycles per second or cps) stimulator producing a sinusoidal current interrupted for 10 milliseconds (ms) every 20ms was used to cause the muscular contractions<sup>24</sup> and that both the direct and indirect method of pad placement were used.<sup>52</sup> Exact placement of the electrodes, however, is unclear, as are many other-treatment details.

The researchers in North America who have attempted to duplicate the Russian Technique in their studies cannot be certain of doing so due to this insufficient documentation of Kots' work. The importance of Kots' work lies in the identification of a potentially useful strength improvement technique. Further investigation is required to better understand the potential of EMS as a method of strength training.

#### A. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

O

With increasing numbers of people becoming involved in the fitness movement, more demand is being placed on physicians to diagnose their subsequent ailments and on therapists to  $\mathcal{E}_{i}$  streat them. To keep abreast of the increase in patient number, these professionals must be concerned about efficiency in their therapeutic practices.

An area in which the physiotherapist or the athletic therapist can strive to become more efficient, is the length of treatment time when using various modalities. If a therapist is able to complete a treatment in a shorter period of time, but still obtain the desired physiological responses from the body tissues, then he or she will be able to treat more patients and patients can return to activity sooner.

The purpose of this study was to address this problem directly, using electrical muscle stimulation (EMS) as a model. EMS is considered to be a useful modality in the rehabilitation of injured muscle or traumatized joints. This study investigated the effect of varying the rest period between isometric electrically induced contractions of the knee extensor muscles. Rest

maximal contractions each of 10s duration.

#### **B. SUBPROBLEM**

A variety of techniques are popularly used in the application of an electrical current to the target muscle or muscle group. Some factors which may dictate the method utilized include the presence of a cast, the presence of an open sore or swelling, the position and mobility of the patient, and the comfort of the patient in terms of the current sensation.

Two conventional techniques of electrical current application are the direct and the indirect technique.<sup>17</sup> <sup>11</sup> The present study examined two indirect methods of applying a commonly used form of faradic current (continuous, asymetrical, biphasic square wave produced by the TECA SP5/T stimulator) employed by clinicians.

#### C. HYPOTHESES

The three null hypotheses tested in this study were:

no significant difference in mean torque decrement, mean torque or peak torque existed between the three rest intervals when averaged over method of electrode pad placement  $\sim (p \le 0.05)$ 

2. no significant difference in mean torque decrement, mean torque or peak torque existed between the two methods of electrode pad placement when averaged over rest interval (p < 0.05)

3.

1.

no mean torque decrement, mean torque or peak torque for any combination of method of electrode pad placement and rest interval differed significantly from any other combination  $(p \le 0.05)$  A

## D. DELIMITATIONS

The delimitations of this study included:

1

3.

4.

 the use of 30 normal, healthy, male university-aged volunteers, with no history of right knee or hip pathology or injury

2. the use of a clinically, unmodified (TECA SP5/T) electrotherapeutic stimulator

the testing of isometric right knee extension contractions with the joint angle of the knee fixed at 60 degrees flexion

the intensity of the EMS machine controlled by the subject and restricted to the subject's maximally tolerated level

5. the size and placement of the two surface electrodes

6. the three rest intervals of 35, 50 and 65s between the 10s contractions

the subject consciously relaxing the quadriceps (and hamstrings) throughout all contractions

#### E. LIMITATIONS

The limitations of this study included:

7.

1. the inability to ensure that the subject's tolerance was indeed his maximal tolerance

2. the inability to ensure that the subject was not voluntarily contracting his muscles either with the stimulation (ie. the quadriceps) or against the stimulation (ie. the hamstrings)

- the use of an external apparatus measuring maximal resistance torque, to represent contractile force within a muscle
- 4. the daily variation of the subject's tolerance, skin resistance and motivation

#### F. EXPLANATION OF TERMS

Ì

ISOMETRIC CONTRACTION: An isometric contraction is a contraction where the muscle develops tension, but does not shorten, appreciably, in length. During an isometric contraction, the muscular tension varies, but the muscle length and angle of the joint at which the contraction takes place remain constant.

MAXIMAL TOLERANCE: During each session, the subject was requested to stimulate his quadricep muscle to his maximal level of tolerance. The intensity dial was turned up by the subject to the point where the subject was taking as much current as he could tolerate within the limits of discomfort. Allowing the subject to control the intensity dial enabled the subject to turn down the intensity should he consider it necessary. As well, this control of the intensity dial may have decreased the subject's apprehension.

MEAN TORQUE: Mean torque was the average torque produced by the 10 stimulated contractions within one session.

MUSCULAR FATIGUE: Muscular fatigue was the decrease in the muscle's ability to attain or maintain tension during repeated bouts of electrical stimulation. In the present study, fatigue was measured by the decrease in torque that the quadriceps were able to produce during one session.

MUSCULAR STRENGTH: Muscular strength is the tension-building capacity of a muscle. Unfortunately the tension developed in a muscle during a contraction cannot be assessed directly by measuring the intramuscular tension developed between the muscle's boney insertions. Instead, an external apparatus measures a force representing the contractile tension of the muscle. In this particular study, a dynamometer (Cybex II dynamometer) measured the

resulting torque produced by contraction of the quadriceps.

PAD PLACEMENT: The electrical current was transmitted from the electrical muscle stimulator (TECA SP5/T stimulator) to the skin via insulated wire leads and two electrodes. To ensure a firm and consistent contact between the electrodes and the skin, the lead electrodes were secured to the skin by an elastic tensor. Skin provides a high resistance to the electrical current due to the small number of ions located in its thick, dry, epidermis layer. By uniformily moistening a folded piece of cotton cloth with warm water and placing it between the skin and the electrode, the skin resistance was reduced. The damp intermediate cloth softened the dehydrated layer and provided ions to propagate the electrical current transcutaneously.<sup>77</sup>

The current was applied by utilizing two indirect techniques. For group 1, the experimenter, placed the distal electrode over the femoral nerve (the main nerve supply of the quadriceps) and the proximal pad over the lumbo-sacral area. Group 2 received the stimulation through a distal pad over the motor points of the three superficial quadriceps and a proximal electrode over the femoral nerve in the groin area.

PEAK TORQUE: Peak torque was the highest torque produced in one session. Three peak torques were identified per subject, each peak torque representing a 10s stimulated contraction.

REST INTERVAL: The rest interval was the period of time in between the ten 10s stimulated contractions. In this study, the three rest intervals used were 35, 50 and 65s. Within one session the rest interval was constant. For each session, however, the subject experienced a different rest interval which was randomly assigned prior to testing. During all rest intervals, the subject was instructed to remain seated in the testing c much his legs relaxed.

SCORE: A score was an average of the initial or o the stimulated torques. For Data 1, one score represented the average torque of the firs stimulations and another score represented the average torque of the last three stimulation. The overage torque of the first five stimulations and the average torque of the last five stimulation des libed the scores of Data 2.

<u>ى</u>..

SESSION: One session consisted of ten 10s stimulated contractions interspersed by a rest interval of either 35, 50 or 65s. Within one session, the rest interval was consistent; however, different sessions had different rest periods.

STIMULATED CONTRACTION: The recorded torques represented muscular contractions which were elicited by electrical stimulation only. Voluntary effort on the part of the subject was not required nor desired.

TORQUE: Torque is a turning effect produced by a force acting about an axis of rotation. Mathematically, torque is equivalent to the force multiplied by the perpendicular distance from the line of action that the force acts and the fulcrum.<sup>17</sup>

In this particular study, torque, measured in foot-pounds (ft-lb), was recorded for knee extension. The axis of rotation at the knee was an imaginary line drawn through the femoral condyles in the saggital plane.<sup>49</sup> The lever arm associated with knee extension was the distance between the axis of rotation and the padded resistant block of the lever arm positioned just proximal to the level of the malleoli.

TORQUE DECREMENT: Torque decrement was the difference between the average torque of the initial stimulations and the average torque of the final stimulations recorded within one session. In this study, the torque decrement was defined in two ways: i) the average torque of the first three stimulations (ie. stimulations 1, 2 and 3) minus the average torque of the last three stimulations (ie. stimulations 8, 9 and 10), and ii) the average torque of the first five stimulations (ie. stimulations 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) minus the average torque of the last five stimulations (ie. stimulations 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10).

8.

Ð

#### Chapter II

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

The aim of electrotherapy is to obtain a contraction of the muscle being stimulated. The three qualities of the stimulating current necessary to cause the desired response of the muscle are: i) the current must be of a minimum intensity; ii) the current must be of a minimum duration; and iii) the current must reach its maximum intensity with an adequate speed of rise.<sup>10</sup> <sup>14</sup>

If a stimulus is inadequate to induce a response from excitable tissue, it is said to be a "subliminal" stimulus.<sup>11</sup> If it is just adequate to induce a response it is "minimal".<sup>11</sup> A minimal stimulus is produced from a single nerve or motor fiber. As the stimulus strength is gradually increased more and more motor units are recruited.<sup>69</sup> The lowest stimulus that excites all of the fibers of a given group of nerve or muscle fibers is a "maximal" stimulus. Any stimulus greater than this is "supramaximal".<sup>11</sup>

INTENSITY

The intensity of current is measured in milliamps. The level of intensity (or the number \* of milliamps) that a current must reach to cause the muscle to suddenly respond with a contraction, or a nerve to suddenly respond with a propagation of impulses is termed threshold.<sup>10</sup> For different motor and nerve fibers, the threshold is not the same.<sup>10</sup>

When stimulating a single motor fiber or a single nerve fiber, the fiber will not respond until the stimulus reaches threshold, and will not increase any further with increased current.<sup>16</sup> This "all-or-none" response may appear to defy the observed phenomenon of a muscle contraction gradually increasing in strength with enhanced EMS or with greater voluntary effort. However, because different motor and nerve fibers have different thresholds, as the stimulation intensity increases, more fibers will be excited until, at a certain level of current intensity, all of the muscle fibers are active resulting in a maximal contraction.<sup>10</sup> The summation of fiber activity within muscle accounts for the smooth transition from a just

discernible contraction to a well defined maximal contraction.

The current intensity must be great enough to produce a greater than normal contraction of the target muscle or muscle group in order to improve strength.<sup>52</sup> Edwards et al.<sup>21</sup> found that stimulating the quadriceps at a frequency of 50cps or more, could produce a force up to 60% of that obtained during MVC. Bigland and Lippold<sup>7</sup> reported that stimulating the ulnar nerve at 40cps yielded a muscular contraction equal in strength to MVC. Kots<sup>52</sup> <sup>53</sup> claimed that 10-30% greater torques could be generated with EMS than with MVC. Despite the discrepancy in the percentage of MVC that can be obtained with EMS, there is general agreement that the greater the intensity, the greater the penetration of current.<sup>45</sup> <sup>53</sup> Having to penetrate the superficial adipose tissue as well as the skin, the current must be of sufficient intensity to excite the motor nerves of the underlying musculature.<sup>45</sup> In that context, the deeper the muscle fibers of the muscle, the greater the intensity of stimulation necessary to activate its motor neurons. <sup>14</sup> The more muscle fibers that are stimulated by the penetrating current, the greater the resultant tension.<sup>51</sup>

The level of stimulation intensity tolerated varies immensely between individuals. As the current passes transcutaneously to the muscle, many of the sensory (pain) nerve endings, which are numerous in the skin, become irritated.<sup>34</sup> Increasing the current intensity, increases the irritation. As a result, the magnitude of contraction, which is proportional to the stimulating intensity for a fixed frequency, is limited by the individual's ability to tolerate what is often perceived as an unpleasant sensation.<sup>34</sup>

In the literature, EMS studies report to employ a wide range of training intensities. Several studies stated to have used maximally tolerated EMS.<sup>30</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>54</sup> <sup>60</sup> <sup>79</sup> In two studies involving a post-surgical immobilization period, Eriksson and Haggmark<sup>31</sup> and Stanish et al.,<sup>79</sup> found that in comparison to a control group, EMS retarded to deterioration of muscle function and metabolic potential, and lessened muscle atrophy which confronts a muscle after disuse. Godfrey et al.<sup>35</sup> also studying post-surgical knees, observed a superiority of EMS over voluntary isometric exercise or dynamic torque. However, this might be partially explained by

the fact that the electrically stimulated group trained at maximal tolerance while the isometrically exercised group worked at 75% MVC. Johnson et al.<sup>41</sup> reported 25-200% improvement in strength of atrophied quadriceps of patients suffering from varying degrees of chondromalacia patella after 20 treatments of maximally tolerated EMS. With healthy subjects, Kramer and Semple<sup>34</sup> observed no difference in strength gains among groups exercised voluntarily, artifically or a combination of both despite differences in the percentage of MVC that the groups were trained (108% MVC, 87% MVC, and 107% MVC respectively). Massey et al.<sup>60</sup> found that training with maximally tolerated stimulation was no more effective than training with the traditional methods of progressive dynamic weight-training or isometric training.

Other studies involving normal subjects have reported amazingly similar results despite using EMS intensities ranging from 33% - 80% MVC. Laughman et al.<sup>35</sup> found no difference between groups isometrically exercised and groups electrically stimulated in final strength, despite the average torque monitored on the seventh contraction being 78% and 33% MVC respectively. In fact, the stimulated group had a slightly larger observed strength improvement (22%) than the voluntarily exercised group (18%). This appears to be contradictory to Knuttgen's minimal 'stimulus recommendation of 50% MVC to increase strength, and suggestion that the closer to 100% MVC, the faster the development of strength.<sup>51</sup>

Currier and Mann<sup>23</sup> examined three isometrically trained groups: group 1 completed voluntary exercise at 119%MVC; group 2 completed electrical stimulation based exercise at 67%MVC; and group 3 completed superimposed exercise (EMS superimposed onto MVC) at 88%MVC. In an earlier study Currier et al.,<sup>22</sup> in examining isometric exercise superimposed with EMS and isometric exercise alone, did not specify the training workload but did report that the intensity of EMS was adjusted for the subjects' variable tolerance. In both studies,<sup>22</sup> <sup>23</sup> it was concluded that EMS alone or EMS superimposed on voluntary effort was no more effective than the conventional isometric training. McMiken et al.,<sup>62</sup> using EMS not exceeding 80% and isometric contraction of "near maximum", support the results reported by Currier and

Mann<sup>23</sup> and Currier et al..<sup>22</sup>

Using intensities varying from 33-108% MVC, it appears that repeated cutaneous electrical stimulation is comparable in effectiveness to common strengthening methods of static and dynamic exercise in healthy subjects.<sup>23 54 55 60 62</sup> In studies involving patients, it has been reported that EMS was actually superior to traditional rehabilitation techniques with no undersirable side effects.<sup>30 35 41 79</sup>

#### DURATION

٩

٢

The duration of currents used in stimulation ranges from 0.01-3,000 ms.<sup>20</sup> The minimal duration of an effective stimulus for nerve tissue is 0.03ms while that for muscle tissue is approximately one ms.<sup>11</sup> Currents over 10ms are classified as long duration and those 10ms or less in length are short duration currents.<sup>20</sup> Long duration currents are primarily used to stimulate denervated muscle while short duration currents are used for innervated muscle.<sup>20</sup>

Impulses of long duration cause uncomfortable stabbing sensations.<sup>77</sup> With impulses of lms or less, this discomfort is reduced to a mild, prickling feeling under the electrode which is more bearable.<sup>77</sup> The body receives minimal insult with impulses of even shorter duration (i.e. 0.03-0.1ms) due to the least amount of stimulus toxicity associated with this length of impulse.<sup>14</sup>

If the duration of an effective current is shortened without altering the intensity, there is a time when the current is no longer effective as a stimulus even though the intensity has not been altered. Wise (as reported by Cummings<sup>20</sup>) presented some insight into the phenomenon.

After a motor nerve has been stimulated, there is a very brief refractory period (recovery period) when the nerve cannot be depolarized (send a message) at this point again. After a brief contraction, the fibers of a motor unit also go through a refractory period. These refractory periods in a nerve and muscle pass very quickly with muscle fiber being the slower to recover. For an individual muscle fiber the refractory period is at least 10ms long.

It is possible to compensate for this lack of duration by increasing the intensity. In other words, if the duration is decreased to the point of ineffectiveness, the effectiveness of the current can be restored by an increase in intensity.<sup>10</sup> The shorter the duration, and correspondingly the higher the frequency, of the current, the greater the intensity required to

maintain an effective stimulus.<sup>10</sup> Kots<sup>33</sup> used the 10ms duration, as was cited by Wise, and stated that a modulated current of 10ms on, 10ms off, produced a maximal contraction with the least required intensity.

A shorter pulse duration, demanding higher current may cause technical problems clinically. A patient may be unable to tolerate the current required for a particular pulse . duration to be effective. Similarly, the stimulator may not be able to produce adequate current for a particular pulse duration.

#### SPEED OF RISE

. .

The speed of rise, the speed with which the current reaches its maximal intensity, is the third major factor which influences the response obtained from muscle fibers.<sup>10</sup> <sup>20</sup> It has been observed that when a current is of a constant intensity, the nerve adapts itself by a process called accomodation. Consequently, the stimulus is ineffective in initiating an impulse. When the intensity rapidly changes, by either rising or falling, the current is more effective for stimulation than a slowly changing intensity since it does not allow for accomodation.<sup>20</sup>

If the speed of the rise or fall of an effective stimulus is slowed down without altering the intensity, there is a point when the current is no longer effective as a stimulus even though the intensity has not been altered. The effectiveness of this current can be restored by increasing the intensity.<sup>10</sup> Therefore, the slower the rise, and similarly the lower the frequency, of current the greater the intensity must be for the current to be effective. In observing wave forms, one can appreciate that a rectangular wave changes more suddenly than a sinusoidal wave, which, in turn, changes more suddenly than a triangular wave.<sup>77</sup> The former two types of waveforms, therefore, are more effective than the latter waveform at a lower intensity. Slower rising currents such as the triangular wave form are referred to as selective currents and are found to be more conducive in stimulating denervated muscle than innervated muscle.<sup>10</sup> <sup>77</sup> FREQUENCY

Pulse frequency which is partly determined by the duration of impulse and primarily dependent upon the length of rest between impulses,<sup>20</sup> has a less significant influence on muscle

response than current intensity, pulse duration or speed of rise.<sup>14</sup> In fact, increasing the frequency from 40 to 100cps has little, if any, effect on the strength of an isometric contraction.<sup>14</sup> Frequency, however, is directly related to two of these factors; pulse duration and speed of rise.

-14

Each muscle fiber has an optimum frequency where the threshold for excitation is lowest.<sup>10</sup> Above the optimum frequency, the threshold rises because with increasing frequency, the duration of the stimulus becomes progressively shorter. Below the optimum frequency, the threshold again rises, the rise in this instance, being due to inadequate rise speed of current.<sup>10</sup> Since frequency is directly related to rise time, the lower the frequency, the slower the rise time. In normal innervated tissue, the natural frequency of excitation for a maximal voluntary contraction is usually 50-100cps,<sup>20 27 14</sup> with the threshold frequency of each individual muscle decreasing as the contraction force is reduced.<sup>14</sup> To produce a strong contraction utililizing EMS, a frequency of at least 50cps is required to produce a tetanically fused muscle contraction.<sup>20 24</sup>,<sup>29</sup> Below this frequency, the tetanic contraction degenerates to a level where, at approximately 20cps, only a tremor (incomplete tetany) is visible.<sup>24 29 14</sup> At extremely low frequencies (less than 10cps<sup>10</sup>), the muscle activity decays into individual twitch responses.<sup>24 14</sup>

It has been observed in humans, that muscle fibers are selective in choosing the frequency to which they respond. High frequency impulses (100cps or more) stimulate the fast twitch (FT) muscle fibers, while the low frequency impulses (30cps or less) activate the slow twitch (ST) muscle fibers.<sup>20</sup> <sup>53</sup> The goal of the training program, therefore, will often dictate the frequency of stimulation. If an increase in power and mass is desired, stimulation of FT fibers will achieve the effects most rapidly while stimulating the ST<sup>o</sup> fibers will improve the endurance capabilities of the muscle.<sup>20</sup>

Frequency has been suggested to be related to pain.<sup>24</sup> <sup>33</sup> <sup>52</sup> It has been observed that with increasing frequency, the pain threshold rises much more than the motor threshold, the difference being very pronounced above 1000cps.<sup>10</sup> <sup>33</sup> On this basis, it has been claimed that

using a frequency greater than 1000cps gives the best muscular response with the least amount of pain.<sup>52</sup> Kots<sup>52</sup> has reported that a modulated high frequency, interrupted sinusoidal current has an anesthetic quality. This type of current has been proclaimed as having the ability to block the small afferent (sensory) nerves in the area being stimulated and activate the large efferent (motor) nerves which cause the muscle to contract.<sup>52</sup> The 2500cps frequency current thought to be used by Kots,<sup>24</sup> however, is a carrier wave which is modified by interruptions of 10ms duration between continuous current periods of 10ms. As a result, it is a 50cps current which actually provides the motor stimulation.<sup>16</sup> In North American clinics, a 50cps (faradic) current is commonly used <sup>20</sup> <sup>19</sup> which is reported only to produce a mild prickling sensation due to stimulation of superficial nerve endings.<sup>34</sup>

#### PHYSIOLOGY OF NERVE CONDUCTION

6

The next few sections will provide a brief review of the fundamental neurophysiology of nerve and muscle excitation, outlining the processes which occur during voluntary and electricaally stimulated contractions.

The excitability of nerve and muscle tissue provides the basis for the therapeutic use of electrical stimulation. Both nerve and muscle tells are capable of transmitting electrochemical impulses along their frames. An electrolytic fluid is found inside and outside the cells. A slight excess of frames (ne<sub>Educive</sub> ions) accumulate along the inner surface of the cell membrane and an equal number function (positive ions) oppose on the outside of the membrane creating a membrane potential.<sup>31</sup> The resting membrane potential (i.e., when no electrical impulses are being propagated) is approximately 85 millivolts (mv).<sup>25 31</sup>

The resting membrane potential can be disturbed by a chemical, mechanical, thermal, or electrical change which alters the permeability of the membrane.<sup>31</sup> The sequence of events resulting in rapid changes in the membrane potential followed by an immediate return of the membrane potential to its resting value is called and action potential (AP).<sup>38</sup>

Although not clearly understood, an AP is initiated by changes in the membrane properties that allow an increase in sodium permeability causing an influx of cations inside the cell membrane.<sup>25</sup> Not only does inflow of sodium ions neutralize the normal electronegativity inside the fiber, but also it creates a positive charge inside the membrane. This is called a reversal potential and for large, myelinated nerve fibers it can be approximately +45mv.<sup>31</sup>

Almost immediately following depolarization, the membrane again becomes almost totally impermeable to sodium ions. In addition, the membrane's permeability of potassium ions increases causing an outward flow of cations. These two events cause the membrane to return to normal resting potential. The ions are then actively transported across the membrane to their original locations (i.e., sodium on the outside; potassium on the inside) by sodium and potassium pumps, respectively.<sup>34</sup> This process of returning to the normal resting state is called repolarization.<sup>34</sup>

The two stages of an action potential, depolarization and repolarization, take less than a millisecond.<sup>34</sup> A second AP, however, cannot occur in an excitable fiber as long as the membrane is still depolarized from the first AP. The interval where the nerve is inexcitable is termed the refractory period. The refractory period of a large, myelinated nerve fiber is about 1/2500s. A nerve fiber, therefore, can carry a maximum of approximately 2500 pulses per second (pps).<sup>31</sup>

#### MUSCLE BIOENERGETICS

A muscle contraction involves the transformation of chemical energy into mechanical energy.<sup>61</sup> The two major energy systems of the body, the aerobic and anaerobic systems, provide the necessary energy for muscular work. The system which is utilized by the muscle depends upon the type of activity in which the muscle is engaged. <sup>5</sup>For submaximal, endurance-type efforts, the muscle attains its energy primarily from the aerobic system. Conversely, if the muscle is involved in short intense bouts of work, the muscle is fueled predominantly by the energy from the anaerobic system.<sup>61</sup> Due to the short intense nature of

the contractions examined in the present study, the latter system will be detailed.

The anaerobic system is comprised of two pathways; the adenosine triphosphate-phosphocreatine (ATP-PC) pathway and the lactic acid (LA) pathway.<sup>61</sup> Both pathways provide a method of replenishing ATP, the fuel for muscular activity. The ATP-PC system is the least complicated of the body's energy systems and provides the most rapidly available source of ATP to be utilized by the muscle. The LA system is slower in becoming activated but is able to provide approximately twice as much ATP as that which is obtained from the ATP-PC system.<sup>61</sup> Neither pathway requires oxygen to function.

The immediate source of energy for muscular contraction is the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) molecule which is stored in all muscle cells.<sup>34</sup> <sup>61</sup> <sup>69</sup> Every molecule of ATP consists of two high-energy phosphate bonds, each containing approximately 8000 calories of energy per mole of ATP.<sup>34</sup> <sup>61</sup> When the phosphate bonds are broken, the energy liberated supplies a source of energy for the muscle cell.

To replenish ATP stores quickly (within 10s of the commencement of an intense muscular effort),<sup>61</sup> another high-energy molecule, also stored in the muscle cells, is necessary. Phosphocreatine (PC), like ATP, liberates a large amount of energy when the bond between the creatine and phosphate is broken.<sup>27</sup> <sup>61</sup> This energy is used directly to resynthesize ATP. Ironically, the only means by which PC can be re-formed is from the energy released during the breakdown of ATP. These two interdependent reactions are referred to as "coupled reactions" as the energy released from one series of reactions is linked with the energy needs of the other series.<sup>61</sup> That is, the energy liberated from the breakdown of ATP is utilized to resynthesize ATP, and the energy released from the breakdown of ATP is utilized to resynthesize ATP.

The second anaerobic pathway to restore the ATP supply is the LA system, or more commonly referred to as glycolysis. Glycolysis, meaning the "dissolving of sugar", uses glucose (sugar) to manufacture ATP.<sup>61</sup> In the absence of oxygen, carbohydrates (glycogen and glucose), are incompletely broken down, leaving the by-product lactic acid within the muscle

cell. Accumulation of high levels of lactic acid indicates depletion of glucose stores thereby causing muscular fatigue and limiting the anaerobic capacity of ATP production. The LA system, however, is capable of providing the muscle with ATP during maximal exercise lasting om 10s to two or three minutes prior to the onset of the aerobic system.<sup>61</sup>

#### PHYSIOLOGY OF MUSCLE CONTRACTION

The skeletal (voluntary) muscles of the human body constitute approximately 40% of the total body weight.<sup>27</sup> Each muscle is composed of many thousands of individual contractile fibers. These muscle fibers, or muscle cells, are the organizational unit of the muscle. Groups of muscle fibers are contained within a sheath of connective tissue to form muscle bundles. In turn, these bundles are bound together by connective tissue. The entire muscle is encased in yet another connective tissue sheath.<sup>61</sup>

Skeletal muscle is sometimes referred to as striated or striped muscle due to the visible alternating light and dark striations under a microscopic view of a myofibril. Myofibrils are the basic structural and functional component of a muscle cell.<sup>2</sup> <sup>61</sup> The regularity of the alternating light and dark bands is caused by a geometric arrangement of protein filaments.<sup>61</sup> The light areas are referred to as "I" (isotropic) bands while the dark areas are called "A" (anisotropic) bands.<sup>69</sup> The "I" band is bisected by a dark "Z" line. The portion of the fiber lying between the two "Z" lines is called a sarcomere, the basic contractile unit of the muscle cell.<sup>47</sup> <sup>69</sup>

These light and dark bands are composed of two different protein filaments; a thinner actin filament and a thicker myosin filament.<sup>61</sup> <sup>69</sup> The "I" band is composed entriely of the thinner actin filament. The "A" band, however, is composed mainly of the thicker myosin filament with only a small amount of actin.<sup>61</sup>

#### SARCOTUBULAR SYSTEM

The sarcotubular system consists of two distinct tubular systems; the transverse tubule system (T-system) and the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR). These two systems are responsible for uniting the excitatory process and the mechanical contraction within a muscle.<sup>69</sup>

The T-system consists of tubules leading from, and continuous with, the sarcolemma which is a membrane that surrounds the striated muscle fiber.<sup>69</sup> The tubules also run crossways through the fiber reaching deep into the fiber.<sup>47</sup> In man, the transverse tubules run across the fibers at the junctin of the "A" and "I" bands. Thus, there are two networks of traversally running tubules per sarcomere.<sup>69</sup> With the membranous walls of the transverse tubules being continuous with the sarcolemma, an action potential passes along the T-tubules and around each fibril. The sarcolemma, therefore, has the capacity to propagate an action potential.<sup>47 69</sup>

The SR is a special endoplasmic reticulum which forms an irregular longitudinal arrangement around each of the fibrils and between the T-tubules.<sup>69</sup> The portion of the SR adjacent to the T-tubule is oriented in a transverse direction and forms a large lateral sac running beside the T-tubule. This lateral sac is called a terminal cistern.<sup>69</sup> The cross sectional view of this arrangement with a T-tubule surrounded on both sides by terminal cisternae is referred to as a "triad".<sup>61</sup>

The primary functions of the terminal cisternae are to bind to and store calcium ions.<sup>69</sup> The terminal cisternae release the calcium ions in response to electrical activity spreading inward along the T-tubules. The enhanced sarcoplasmic calcium concentration then initiates and sustains the contraction until the calcium is reabsorbed by the SR. Thus, the SR is not only the source of calcium to initiate contraction but also the "relaxing factor" in muscle.<sup>69</sup>

#### THE CONTRACTILE APPARATUS

The extraordinary property of a muscle cell is its ability to contract. Regulated by calcium, the interaction of thick and thin myofilaments produce this phenomenon.

The thick myofilament is composed almost entirely of myosin molecules.<sup>34</sup> <sup>6°</sup> Tiny protein projections extend laterally from its central core. These lateral protrusions or "cross-bridges" have the capacity to bind with actin.<sup>61</sup> <sup>69</sup>

Actin is one of several important proteins comprising the thin myofilament of the muscle fibril. Actin consists of a double helix of globular molecules which forms the backbone of the actin filament.<sup>34</sup> Spiraling around the double helix is tropomyosin, a long, thin

molecule.<sup>61</sup> The ends of the tropomyosin molecules are enclosed within the globular molecules of troponin. This third protein associated with the thin myofilament has a high affinity to calcium ions.<sup>31</sup> Troponin does not bind directly to the actin protein but binds indirectly through its attachment to tropomyosin.<sup>69</sup> The presence of the troponin-tropomyosin complex prevents the binding of myosin and actin.<sup>31</sup>

#### THE SLIDING FILAMENT THEORY

The occurrence of a muscular contraction is explained by the sliding filament theory which suggests that one set of filaments slide over the other causing the muscle to shorten. The sliding filament theory has been described as:

. . .a mechanism somewhat analogous to the way in which a telescope shortens, i.e., the overall length of the telescope (muscle) decreases as one section (actin) slides over the other (myosin), with neither section itself shortening.<sup>61</sup>

The precise manner in which the sliding process occurs is not completely understood. However, it is thought that the cross-bridges of the thick filaments form a type of chemical bond with the active sites on the on the thin filaments.<sup>61</sup>

EXCITATION

Each muscle fiber is innervated by a motor neuron.<sup>2</sup> The site of innervation, the neuromuscular junction, is located near the middle of the muscle fiber. Contraction of the muscle cell is initiated by an AP transmitted by a motor neuron to the muscle fiber via the neuromuscular junction.<sup>69</sup> With this junction being centrally situated, the AP can spread from the centre of the fiber towards its two ends allowing all of the sarcomeres to contract almost simultaneously.<sup>34</sup>

The transmitted impulses cause a release of acetylcholine (ACh) which is stored in the synaptic vesicles of the nerve terminal.<sup>2</sup> <sup>69</sup> The liberated chemical diffuses across the neuromuscular junction and binds to a specific site on the motor end plate of the sarcolemma.<sup>2</sup>

The presence of ACh on the motor end plate results in changes in the permeability of the motor end plate's membranes. The membrane threshold potential is lowered to cause an increased influx of sodium ions. The altered potential is called an end-plate potential which is

capable of producing a single AP in the sarcolemma.<sup>2</sup> <sup>69</sup>

### EXCITATION-CONTRACTION COUPLING

The propagation of action potentials along the T-tubules causes calcium ions to be released from the terminal cisternae of the SR.<sup>47</sup> <sup>69</sup> The "freed" calcium ions bind immediately to the troponin molecules on the actin filaments which, in an unknown manner, removes the inhibitory effect of the troponin-tropomyosin complex on the actin filament.<sup>47</sup> In the presence of calcium, the myosin cross-bridges are able to interact with the actin filament.<sup>47</sup> Biochemically, this linkage is referred to as actomyosin.<sup>69</sup> The formation of actomyosin activates an enzyme component of the thick filament called andenosise triphosphatase (ATPase).<sup>61</sup> This enzyme causes the breakdown of ATP which liberates large amounts of energy. The released energy enables the cross-bridges to move in such a way that the actin filament slides over the myosin filament towards the centre of the sarcomere.<sup>61</sup> <sup>69</sup> In a shortened state, the sarcomere's banding changes. With a contraction, the "I" band narrows while the width of the "A" band remains constant.<sup>2</sup> <sup>69</sup>

In order to account for the degree of shortening that is observed in a muscle, the cross-bridges must be able to attach, move, and detach at different actin sites in a cyclic manner.<sup>31</sup> This series of actions, termed the "rowing motion of the lateral projections",<sup>69</sup> requires a large source of ATP as a single myosin cross-bridge may "make and break" with active sites on actin filament hundreds of times in a one second contraction.<sup>61</sup> The ATP utilized for a muscular contraction is primarily produced within the mitochondria of the sarcoplasm.<sup>31</sup> <sup>47</sup> The rate and extent of ATP resynthesis depends upon the availability of ADP in the cell and the oxygen supply from the blood, although a small amount of ATP resynthesis can occur in the cytoplasm via anaerobic glycolysis.<sup>34</sup>

#### RELAXATION

•••

Following the passage of an electrical impulse through the T-tubules, the calcium ions are actively pumped out of the sarcoplasm by the entire SR.<sup>47</sup> <sup>69</sup> The calcium is stored in the terminal cistern until the next AP is transmitted. In the absence of calcium, the myosin and

actin interaction terminates producing muscular relaxation.69

By way of summary, calcium initiates and terminates a muscular contraction. If calcium ions are released from the terminal cisternae of the SR, the muscle contracts. If the calcium ions are reabsorbed by the SR, the muscle relaxes.

#### **RECRUITMENT ORDER OF MOTOR UNITS**

A motor unit consists of a group of muscle fibers activated by a single nerve.<sup>19</sup> Each motor unit is active at a characteristic level of tension and ceases to discharge when tension falls below this critical level. In this way, motor units can be described by referring to the percentage of maximal muscular tension at which it is active.<sup>42</sup>

In humans, the muscle fibers of a motor unit can be of two basic types; the slow twitch (ST) fiber and the fast twitch (FT) fiber. Slow twitch fibers are innervated by small, lightly myelinated, low excitation frequency (30cps) motor neurons which cause the contraction and relaxation times to be slow.<sup>37</sup> 45 <sup>14</sup> It is estimated that the peak tension of ST fibers is attained within 100ms.<sup>15</sup> Characterized by high mitochondrial and capillary densities, ST fibers rely on the aerobic energy system.<sup>45</sup> <sup>12</sup> Being highly resistant to fatigue, ST fibers are best suited for endurance activities.<sup>69</sup> <sup>14</sup>

Fast twitch fibers, unlike the aerobic ST fibers, have low mitochondrial and capillary densities making FT fibers susceptible to fatigue.<sup>12</sup> Deriving energy from the anaerobic system, FT fibers have high glycolytic and myofibrillar ATPase activity.<sup>45 69</sup> Large, high excitation frequency (30-100cps or more) motor neurons innervate the FT fibers. These heavily myelinated neurons cause high conduction velocities which generate quick, strong muscular contraction.<sup>37 45 14</sup> Fast twitch fibers reach peak tension in approximately 10ms.<sup>15</sup>

Based on these physiological capabilities and on the fact that FT motor units innervate a large number of fibers while ST motor units have a low innervation ratio, FT muscle fibers are primarily responsible for producing short duration power and strength activities, whereas ST fibers are associated with long sustained contractions at low tensions.<sup>20</sup> <sup>69</sup> <sup>70</sup> In order to minimize the amount of fatigue produced during a muscle contraction, the proportion of each fiber type's contribution towards the contraction varies depending on the magnitude of effort.<sup>27</sup> In turn, the amount of the tension generated is directly dependant upon the electrical activity of the motor unit.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, even with maximal contraction, new muscle fibers are being recruited.

This was demonstrated by Gollnick et al.<sup>36</sup> who examined the muscle fiber type that was recruited at different tensions relative to the MVC of the knee extensors. At low tensions, the ST fibers were predominantly active while at higher tensions the FT muscle fibers were preferentially recruited. The critical tension was determined to be 20% MVC. With sustained contractions less than 20% MVC, there was a major reliance on aerobic ST fibers while above this level there was a dependence upon anaerobic FT fibers. It was suggested that restriction of blood flow and thus the availability of oxygen at tensions greater than 20% MVC may partially explain the recruitment order of muscle fibers.

Although the magnitude of the contraction dictates the type of muscle fiber that is activated, the amount of tension generated is directly dependent upon the electrical activity of the motor unit.<sup>7</sup> The excitability of the motor units is determined by the size of the cell body. This size controls the recruitment order of the muscle fibers. The ST fibers which are associated with small cell body neurons are recruited first. Conversely, FT neurons with the large cell bodies are the first units to be inhibited.<sup>42 66 70</sup>

The recruitment order of muscle fibers during EMS is opposite to the "normal" voluntary sequence. This can be explained by the fact that electrical threshold of a muscle fiber during EMS is inversely proportional to axon diameter.<sup>14</sup> Consequently, for a small, electrically stimulated contraction, the large FT fibers are recruited first.<sup>20</sup><sup>14</sup> In addition, FT fibers are superficially located in the muscle.<sup>14</sup> As a result of these two facts, the FT fibers, which are most prone to fatigue, are stimulated prior to ST fibers during EMS.

Munsat and his associates,<sup>67</sup> while treating patients with implanted stimulation of the femoral nerve to attempt to correct knee flexion contractures, found that recruitment of a
particular muscle fiber did not solely depend upon the frequency of current. When a muscle was stimulated to contract isometrically in a lengthened state against resistance, an increased proportion of recruitment of ST fibers was noted along with an increased size of both ST and FT fibers. On the other hand, when the muscle contracted isometrically in a shortened length and with less resistance, the ST fibers decreased in number and in size compared to the FT fibers. This lends support to the reverse recruitment order of EMS when contrasted to the voluntary sequence.

Voluntary and artificial muscular contractions differ fundamentally in another respect. During a volitionary effort, the excitation of muscle fibers is alternated asynchronously so as to minimize the metabolic fatigue experienced by the fibers during contraction.<sup>62</sup> It appears that with cutaneous electrical stimulation, all motor units are activated synchronously precipitating early fatigue.<sup>62</sup>

The significant differences between voluntary and stimulated contractions must be recognized and understood. Knowledge of dissimilarities in recruitment order and time over which similar fibers act can help explain the occurrence of physiological adaptations which may otherwise be unexpected.

#### MUSCULAR FATIGUE

Physical fatigue has long been recognized as a deterent of productivity whether it is at a fish-packaging plant or at a high school track meet. Unfortunately, fatigue has been poorly understood for about as long as it has been known to exist.

Muscular fatigue is characterized by the decrease in ability of a muscle to continue to exert its previous level of tension.<sup>17</sup> It is not known for certain whether the force that can be exerted by a muscle is limited by: the capacity of the nervous centers and conducting pathways to deliver the motor impulses to the muscle fiber; or the efficiency of the circulating system to transport needed substances into the muscle or to transport unwanted metabolites out of the muscle; or the intrinsic contractile properties of the fibers themselves.<sup>64</sup> <sup>78</sup> Much of the research

on muscular fatigue that has been done is concerned with determining the primary site causing the reduced muscular function. The two popular theories of muscular fatigue are the "central" fatigue theory and the "peripheral" fatigue theory.

#### EVIDENCE FOR CENTRAL FATIGUE

Support for the central fatigue theory was evident as early as the late 1920's. Reid<sup>12</sup> observed the response of muscle to voluntary contractions and to artificially stimulated contractions. The middle finger, resisting 1/2-5 kilograms (kg), was voluntarily contracted at a frequency of 12-160 per minute (/min). The artificial stimulation, applied both indirectly and directly, consisted of short (1/5-3/5s) duration faradic stimulation at rates of 12-80 pulses per minute (ppm). The initial contraction height of maximum voluntary effort and indirect stimulation was identical. After complete voluntary fatigue at a fast rate of contractions, indirect as well as direct stimulation produced sizeable contractions, though smaller than the initial amplitude. During a slow rate of voluntary contractions (12-80/min) carried to the point of fatigue, the response of the muscle to indirect and direct stimulation was practically unimpaired. Similarly, after fatiguing the muscle isometrically, it still responded strongly to direct electrical stimulation. As a results of his work, Reid claimed that the central nervous system (CNS) is the primary site for fatigue, but he also recognized that neuromuscular and contractile fatigue are contributing factors.<sup>72</sup>

Asmussen and Mazin<sup>3</sup> were also able to lend support to the central fatigue theory. Five subjects engaged in arm/finger isotonic work to exhaustion with two minute rest periods interspersed between work bouts. All the odd numbered work bouts were conducted with the subjects' eyes opened. All the even numbered work bouts were conducted with the subjects' eyes closed. After exhaustion had been reached with the eyes closed, it was found that 15-30% more work could be accomplished when the eyes were opened. When subjects worked to exhaustion with their eyes opened, none of the subjects were able to produce a measureable increase in the amount of work when their eyes were closed.

From this work it appears as though increased arousal of the CNS caused by the opening of the eyes, actually increased the average mechanical responses of the patellar tendon tap by 93-168% when compared to the subjects when their eyes were closed. Having the eyes of the subjects pened, therefore, appeared to increase the amount of work performed by the muscles being tested as well as increase the central excitatory state, as manifested by the increased responsiveness of the patellar reflexes.

The "diverting activity" (i.e. the eyes-being opened) is explained by an increased facilitation of neural/motor systems which, in fatigue, is inhibited centrally through afferents from receptors in the fatigued muscle.<sup>3</sup>

Bigland-Richie et al.<sup>4</sup> provided further evidence for the central fatigue theory. The force of the quadriceps produced by a supramaximal stimulation via the femoral nerve (50cps) and by a maximal voluntary effort were compared over a 60s period. During the first 30s, the contraction force during both conditions fell similarly suggesting that the inability to maintain force was due to failure at or distal to the neuromuscular junction. After 45s, however, the voluntary force fell faster than the artificially stimulated force indicating that the later period of strength decrement was due to a decrease in the central neural drive.<sup>4</sup>

#### EVIDENCE FOR PERIPHERAL FATIGUE

The central fatigue theory was not seriously challenged until Merton<sup>64</sup> who initiated the peripheral fatigue theory. Merton compared the maximal voluntary tension with the maximal electrically stimulated tension developed in the adductor pollicis muscle. In man, this muscle is the only ulnar supplied muscle acting on the thumb and, in addition, is the only muscle used in voluntary adduction of the thumb.<sup>64</sup> The voluntary force and the artificially stimulated force, therfore, can be compared with reasonable certainty that the same muscle mass produced both forces.

Merton stimulated the ulnar nerve at a frequency of 50cps and a duration of one second which produced a contraction identical to the MVC produced by an unfatigued adductor pollicis muscle<sup>64</sup>. After voluntarily fatiguing the muscle, however, this stimulation format could not

. 26

elicit a mechanical response. Furthermore, Merton observed that recovery did not occur until circulation was restored. This phenomenon was attributed to biochemical changes in the contraction mechanism which could be overcome by eliminating the occlusion.

The work of Merton is contrary to Reid's observations. Merton argued that if fatigue occured centrally, then strength should begin to recover when the muscular effort ceased as there was no interference with the circulation to the central structures. The discrepency between Reid's and Merton's results may be accounted for by the difference in the rate and/or the strength of contractions. Reid employed a series of repetitive submaximal contractions while Merton utilized a sustained maximal contraction.<sup>13</sup>

Similar to Merton, Naess and Storm-Mathiesen (as reported by Simonson<sup>71</sup>), after voluntarily fatiguing the adductor pollicis muscle, were unable to restore the strength of the muscle using indirect electrical stimulation of the ulnar nerve. These investigators supported Merton's conclusion that the site of fatigue was peripheral.

In contrast to Merton, however, Naess and Storm-Mathiesen credited the presence of fatigue to a failure in the neuromuscular junction. Naess and his associate found a decrease in the action potential height when the fatigued adductor pollicis muscle was indirectly stimulated. Transmission fatigue was, therefore, observed as the limiting factor in a muscular contraction.

Transmission fatigue has long been accepted in neuromuscular physiology.<sup>74</sup> Immediately after complete fatigue by indirect stimulation of the motor nerve, the muscle responds to direct stimulation.<sup>74</sup>

Stephens and Taylor<sup>10</sup> suggested that both peripheral components contribute to fatigue. In the initial stage of force decrement, fatigue of the sustained maximal contraction of the first dorsal interosseous muscle was attributed to failure at the neuromuscular junction as the action potential of the ulnar nerve was relatively unchanged when compared to the significant decrease in force. As the force generated fell to approximately 25% in the second stage, however, fatigue was then attributed to failure within the contractile mechanism. At high levels of force the presence of artificial occlusion (arterial cuff) made no difference in the proession of fatigue

but in the second stage of fatigue, the cuff prevented the plateauing that occurred normally when the force was diminished to approximately 25% MVC. The force produced by the muscle which had the blood supply impaired, decreased to a level well below the 25% MVC.<sup>10</sup>

It is evident that muscular fatigue is complex. It is probably most accurate to state that this phenomenon is a result of a combination of central, neuromuscular and contractile fatigue and that the site of fatigue depends upon the type of activity. It is speculated that neuromuscular fatigue is most marked during intense muscular contractions and that contractile fatigue is more prominent during low tension efforts.<sup>40</sup> Central fatigue has been commonly viewed as a safety device to protect the muscles from injury.<sup>13</sup>

# **BLOOD FLOW AND FATIGUE**

The rate of fatigue is directly related to the intensity of the contraction.<sup>32</sup> At low tension levels up to approximately 10-15% MVC, a steady state is reached whereby the metabolic requirements needed for the contraction are sufficient to maintain the contraction.<sup>56</sup> In this state, fatique is not reached.<sup>56</sup> At tensions greater than 15% MVC, the metabolic requirements become less sufficient for the needs of the contraction. When the supply and demands of energy sources are not in balance, fatigue is inevitable.

Muscular contraction of higher intensities cause impairment of blood flow.<sup>4</sup> <sup>26</sup> <sup>32</sup> The greater the force of contraction, the greater the force of mechanical compression exerted by the muscle fibers on the blood vessels.<sup>32</sup> The exact percentage of MVC at which blood occlusion occurs during an isometric contraction is not agreed upon. Some investigators have suggested that a force as low as 20% MVC is capable of interrupting the blood supply to the active muscle.<sup>4</sup> <sup>24</sup> Most, however, agree that a contraction ranging from 30-60% MVC causes the internal muscular pressure to be equivalent to the blood pressure.<sup>16</sup> <sup>51</sup> <sup>64</sup> <sup>75</sup> Still others have proposed that blood flow is not interrupted during an isometric contraction until 70% MVC is obtained.<sup>12</sup> <sup>32</sup>

Regardless of the %MVC that blood occlusion occurs, it is well known that a sustained isometric contraction causes a depletion of high energy phosphates (ATP and PC) compounds which are immediately available for the maintenance of muscular contraction.<sup>17</sup> <sup>61</sup> In addition, without circulating blood, the removal of accumulated metabolites is impaired. With the depletion/replenishment system inoperative during blood impedment, the force of the sustained contraction.<sup>17</sup> A maintained contraction reduces in strength until the tension falls to the critical level (20-70% MVC, depending on the reference) at which point the fatigue curve flattens. This plateau represents the re-establishment of steady state as blood flow is restored and the faitgue rate is reduced.<sup>64</sup> <sup>73</sup>

#### DURATION OF ISOMETRIC CONTRACTION

The amount of force exerted and the duration for which this tension can be sustained without fatiguing are inversely related.<sup>34</sup> When an isometric contraction is below 15-20% MVC, the muscle cannot reach a state of fatigue regardless of the duration of contraction.<sup>4 36</sup> This can be explained by the fact that the muscle is able to produce the energy required for maintaining the static contraction at a rate equivalent to the rate at which energy is expended.<sup>34</sup> In this instance, a steady state is attained. For an isometric contraction which is greater than 15-20% MVC, however, the muscle expends (entirely in the form of heat)<sup>9</sup> at a faster rate than the rate at which energy is regenerated.<sup>36</sup> <sup>49</sup> With a static contraction greater than 15-20% MVC, therefore, a gradual depletion of stored energy must result and fatigue is inevitable. The time required for fatigue to develop is indirectly related to the tension exerted.

When developing a training program, the energy system(s) utilized must be identified. The energy system that is involved is directly dependant upon the duration of activity.<sup>61</sup> Activities of long duration (i.e., exceeding five minutes) rely predominantly on energy derived from the oxygen system. Exercises of short duration (five minutes or less) obtain energy primarily from the ATP-PC and LA systems.<sup>61</sup>

29

A training program designed for improving muscular strength involves exercise bouts of short duration and of near maximal effort. With intense, heave muscular activity, the ATP-PC system will provide the necessary energy.<sup>61</sup> \*<sup>3</sup> This immediate anaerobic energy source, however, can be depleted, in man, within 10s. <sup>61</sup> \*<sup>3</sup>

The duration of a muscular contraction which is claimed most effective for the purpose of strength training, varies from six to 15s. Hettinger and Muller (as reported by Rose et al.<sup>74</sup> and Fardy<sup>32</sup>) stated that maximal strength improvements could be obtained with an isometric contraction held for six seconds. Kots<sup>32</sup> <sup>33</sup> and others<sup>31</sup> have suggested that a 10s muscular contraction was the optimum length for a maximal effort. Royce<sup>75</sup> reported that an isometric MVC could be maintained for 15s at which time the tension produced by the muscle began to fall.

In the literature, strength training studies have utilized various lengths of contractions. Many studies<sup>11</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>40</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>34</sup> <sup>60</sup> <sup>62</sup> have employed the 10s contraction as proposed by Kots for improving muscular strength. Several<sup>22</sup> <sup>30</sup> <sup>31</sup> <sup>31</sup> <sup>74</sup> have chosen the six seconds as suggested by Hettinger and Muller. Still others<sup>23</sup> <sup>24</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>61</sup> have allowed for a 15s contraction (five seconds to reach peak tension with the remaining 10s maintained at the maximal level of intensity).

## REPEATED MUSCULAR CONTRACTIONS

There are two major criteria for improving muscular strength, both of which employ the overload principle.<sup>50</sup> A muscle must contract against a resistance of an adequate load, a sufficient number of times in order to increase its strength.<sup>77</sup> Since the first factor of training at a high intensity has been discussed, the number of repetitions will be reviewed presently.

The evolution of the number of repetitive actions within one strength training workout is intriquing. In the early 1950's, Hettinger and Muller (as reported by Rose et al.<sup>74</sup> and by Fardy<sup>32</sup>) claimed that strength could increase at a rate of five percent per week just by isometrically contracting a muscle, or muscle group, for six seconds at two-thirds maximal tension, once daily, five times per week. These results were supported a few years later when Rarick and Larsen<sup>71</sup> duplicated Hettinger and Muller's study, concluding that brief periods of isometric tension (one six-second bout of isometric exercise daily at two-thirds MVC) proved to be as effective for strength development as more frequently repeated (up to eight per day) exercise bouts at higher levels of tension (up to 80% MVC).

In the early 1960's, Muller (reviewed by Matthews and Fox<sup>61</sup>) claimed that maximal strength could be developed best by training five day a week with each training session consisting of five to 10 maximal contractions held for five seconds each. The length of the rest interval dispersed between the series of contractions was not indicated. Berger<sup>6</sup> stated that the optimum number of repetitions for increasing the tensile strength of a muscle is between three and nine repetitions in one set and that this format should be repeated for 12 weeks to produce an increase in strength.

Hislop (as reported by Hood and Forward<sup>44</sup>) expressed the importance of the rest interval when he stated: "If a maximal effort has been executed, the tension reached can't be repeated or exceeded by a second contraction in a short interval of time". With this in mind, Kots<sup>52</sup> designed an experiment to determine the optimal rest interval which enabled a second maximal isometric contraction of 10s (induced by electrical stimulation) to be equivalent in strength to the first contraction of the same duration. Using intervals of 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50s, Kots found the 40 and 50s rest period to be superior. Proceeding one step further, Kots examined which of these two rest intervals would permit a series of 10 consecutive, maximal isometric contractions each of 10s in duration. It was reported that the 50s rest interval allowed each of the contractions to be maximal. With the 40s rest period between each of the 10 efforts, the last contractions were submaximal.

Today, a routine including two to five bouts (sets) of six to 10 repetitions daily, or every other day, is practiced commonly as this is thought to produce the greatest strength increase in the least amount of time. Studies<sup>24</sup> <sup>39</sup> <sup>70</sup> utilizing this protocol for increasing strength have reported greater resting concentrations of energy stores, such as muscle creatine and adenosine, suggesting the capacity of the ATP-PC system has been enhanced. Since this system

is used for intense maximal efforts, the ability of muscle to improve its strength is increased.

#### **RECOVERY FROM REPEATED MUSCULAR CONTRACTIONS**

In order to perform multiple contractions, the intercontraction rest interval must be of sufficient length. During this period, the energy stores which have been depleted through muscular activity are restored so as to be available when needed by the next effort. The recovery period, as it is termed, is functionally the opposite process of fatigue.<sup>77</sup>

The amount of recovery that occurs during an intercontraction rest interval depends on two factors; the length of the recovery period and the degree of strength degradation.<sup>12</sup> These factors appear to have a paradoxical relationship. This paradox was illustrated by Caldwell<sup>12</sup> who observed the amount of recovery that occurred during a series of contractions. Each session consisted of ten 12.5s isometric contractions separated by intertrial intervals of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200s, with intervals being constant within a given session. It was observed that with short intercontraction intervals, recovery tended to increase with successive rest periods but with long relief intervals there was a tendency for recovery to decrease with repeated rests. The explanation to this seemingly unrealistic condition is that the amount of recovery is not only determined by the length of recovery period but also by the degree to which the muscle has been degraded by prior efforts. Contractions occurring more frequently accumulate more metabolites and deplete local energy sources to a greater degree than contractions with longer intercontraction intervals. The shorter intervals, therefore, are inadequate to permit complete recovery of contraction strength.

In a later study, Caldwell and Lyddan<sup>13</sup> conducted a similar study, however, each session in this instance, included ten 25s isometric contractions separated by intercontraction periods of 25, 50 and 100s. Although supporting the conclusions of the earlier study with regard to the recovery tending to increase with shorter rest intervals and decrease with long rest periods, Caldwell and his associate were unable to define a clear relationship between decrement and recovery. The shorter intercontraction interval displayed a slight inverse relationship

between decrement and recovery but for the 50 and 100s rest, both decrement and recovery tended to decrease with trials.

Since recovery patterns, like fatigue curves, are a function of the exercise intensity, it seems reasonable that muscles must be fatigued to the same level of strength before making a comparison of the relative effects of two or more exercise programs on recovery.<sup>17</sup> In a study by Clarke<sup>14</sup>, this factor was not controlled. There was an apparently greater recovery following static exercise. This difference, however, may not have been due to the fact that the muscle was fatigued isometrically, rather than isotonically, but that the isometric exercise was more fatiguing as was evidenced by the significantly lower final strength scores (32.2 kilogram, or kg, for the isotonic group and 19.9kg for the isometric group).

Conducting a study similar in design to Clarke's earlier study, Clarke and Stull<sup>17</sup> exercised the forearm flexors of 31 adult males for three minutes isotonically, maximally contracting once every two seconds. One week following, the same group isometrically exercised their forearm flexors, not for a particular duration as in Clarke's<sup>14</sup> study, but to the level of strength decrement equivalent to that which this muscle group attained the week prior. After both testing sessions, the subject rested for 60s before maximally contracting the forearm flexors. This sequence of 60s rest followed by MVC was repeated for 10 minutes (min) following the two exercise bouts.

Unlike the previous study, Clarke and Stull<sup>17</sup> failed to conclude that the recovery is faster following isometric exercise. Instead, these investigators observed that the strength recovery curve has two components; a fast component initially followed by a slow component. The advantage in recovery of one mode of exercise over the other changes depending upon the phase of recovery.

For both exercise conditions, the initial phase of recovery lasting up to two minutes is characterized by a fast component. After two minutes of recovery, the slow component dominates. When muscle strength is depressed to the same level, the isotonically exercised muscle recovers quicker during the initial stage of recovery.<sup>17</sup> This advantage subsides and

thereafter recovery is 35% faster following isometric exercise.<sup>17</sup> One must be cautious, however, of interpretation. The 35% faster recovery in the second phase following isometric exercise may not be advantageous if one wishes to recover as much strength as possible in the first couple of minutes of recuperation.

Clarke and Stull<sup>17</sup> have suggested that the two components of the recovery curve parallel the normal recovery blood flow curves. The initial phase is associated with reactive hyperemia while the second phase accounts for normal blood flow debt. In recovery blood flow curves, the first stage is much faster than the second stage.

In attempting to define the relationship between chemical recovery in muscle and the recovery of muscle performance, Harris et al.<sup>43</sup> found that occlusion of circulation (artificially) during recovery prevented resynthesis of energy stores thereby inhibiting muscle strength recovery. Under normal conditions, however, it was observed that PC resynthesis occurred in a biphasic manner, exhibiting a fast and then a slow recovery component. Since the replenishment of PC relies on the presence of oxygen,<sup>74</sup> the biphasic resynthesis of PC must be related directly to the biphasic blood flow curves.

#### QUADRICEPS FUNCTION

J

The quadriceps is very important for everyday physical activity. Originating above the knee joint and inserting onto the tibia below the knee, the quadriceps muscle group extends the knee. Due to their internal attachments, the force that the muscle produces cannot be measured directly. The muscular tension generated, therefore, is tested externally via their levers systems.<sup>11</sup>

Being easy to position and stabilize, the quadriceps group is a good muscle for testing. As a result, it is a common muscle used in investigations, making comparisons with other studies possible.

In studies observing muscular strength of the quadriceps, it has been commomly agreed that the maximum isometric contraction of the quadriceps can be obtained at 50-70 degrees of

flexion.<sup>11</sup> <sup>21</sup> <sup>30</sup> <sup>46</sup> <sup>57</sup> <sup>61</sup> <sup>76</sup> At this angle, the quadriceps (specifically the vasti) is in the lengthened position. Being a two-joint muscle, however, the angle at the hip is also important to consider.

While a subject is in a sitting position with the knee flexed at 60 degrees, it has been suggested that the hip should be extended to 110-135 degrees in order for the heavy resistive exercise of the knee extensor muscles to be performed effectively.<sup>21</sup> This angle places the rectus femoris in a lengthened position. With the knee flexed to 60 degrees and the hip extended 110 degrees, all muscles of the quadriceps, therefore, are in a lengthened state enabling the muscle to exert the greatest extensor force at the knee.<sup>21</sup> A strong contraction results because the sarcomeres are lengthened which places the cross bridges in a more effective position for formation.<sup>37</sup>

To accurately measure the strength of the quadriceps mechanism, one must stabilize the rest of the body (i.e. the hips and trunk) to restrict extraneous movements of the subject during testing. A subject will be unable to exert maximum force of the muscle group being tested unless other muscle groups of the body contract to provide as firm a base as possible from which to pull. <sup>63</sup> The stabilizing force must be at least equal to the maximal force that the muscle being tested is able to exert.<sup>63</sup> If the stabilization is inadequate, the measured force of the muscle will represent a submaximal effort.

Mendler<sup>63</sup> demonstrated that the force of the knee extension increases as stabilization of the body is increased. Compared to no stabilization, other than the weight of the body while in a sitting position, the maximal torque produced by the quadriceps at 60 degrees knee flexion could be increased by 20% with the hands grasping the sides of the chair and by a further 10% with thigh and back stabilization. Using the same knee flexion while in a seated position, Richards and Currier,<sup>73</sup> confirmed that grasping the sides of the chair and using a backboard increased the torque of knee extensors. Without supporting the back, the rectus femoris of the quadriceps group was recruited to assist in stabilizing the hip and, therfore, could not contribute its full effort to knee extension.

#### SURFACE ELECTRODES FOR STIMULATION

. .

Electrodes represent "the interface between the technical and biological systems."<sup>14</sup> Two electrodes are necessary; one to introduce the electrical current and one to allow the electrical current to exit from the patient thus completing the circuit. Although electrodes vary considerably in size, shape and type, they should share common characteristics. Electrodes should be simple, inexpensive, and flexible to conform to the body contours.<sup>65</sup>

Ũ

Surface electrodes are usually made of metal (lead, stainless steel, aluminum, brass or tin) plates covered with a soft material such as several layers of gauze or cloth moistened with warm saline or tap water<sup>20</sup> <sup>65</sup> <sup>77</sup> <sup>14</sup>

The size of the electrode varies substantially depending upon the area and the tissue being stimulated as well as the desired effect. Generally, the electrode size is proportional to the area to be treated. A large muscle requires a larger electrode than a nerve. Covering more surface area, a larger electrode decreases the current density and, hence, increases the threshold.<sup>15</sup> <sup>20</sup> This is desirable when the aim is to prevent contraction of muscles other than those being treated, and in particular the antagonists to the muscle being stimulated.<sup>77</sup> In addition, less current density minimizes the discomfort of the patient due to fewer surface pain receptors being excited.<sup>20</sup> <sup>77</sup> <sup>14</sup> Contrarily, a smaller electrode pad increases the current density, lowers the threshold required for excitation and increases the pain level.<sup>20</sup> <sup>77</sup>

The size difference between the two electrodes is more important when applying direct current rather than alternating current. With direct current there is a distinct positive (anode) and negative (cathode) electrode. The cathode is the active electrode and is usually smaller than the anode or dispersive electrode.<sup>5</sup> <sup>77</sup> The difference in dimensions causes a higher current density under the active electrode thereby depolarizing the nerve fiber at a lower threshold.<sup>84</sup> With alternating current both electrodes become "active" during the alternate phases of each stimulating cycle, therefore, minimizing the desirability and effectiveness of using electrodes of significantly different sizes.

The distance between the electrodes is another factor which influences the adequacy of the stimulating current. In general, the further apart the two electrodes are placed, the deeper the penetration of current.<sup>5</sup> Conversely, as the distance between the electrodes decreases, the more superficial the effect of the stimulation. Applying the current by the direct technique produces superficial contraction<sup>52</sup> which may be partly explained by the proximity of the electrodes which are usually closer than those of the indirect technique.

#### APPLICATION TECHNIQUE

The two main methods used in the placement of surface electrodes are the indirect and the direct technique. The indirect (or unipolar) technique is used most frequently and involves the placement of one electrode pad over the motor point(s) of the muscle(s), or over the main nerve trunk supplying the muscle or muscle group, and the other pad on another part of the body.<sup>10</sup> The motor point of a muscle is the point where the major nerve enters the muscle that it innervates. It is at this point that the nerve is most superficial and, therefore, most sensative to the current.<sup>10</sup> <sup>77</sup> With the indirect method usually the electrode over the motor point(s) is smaller than the other electrode.<sup>10</sup> The larger electrode can be placed over the nerve trunk supplying the muscle which will stimulate all the muscles supplied by that nerve trunk.<sup>77</sup>

The direct (or bipolar) technique places both electrodes of equal dimensions directly over the muscle belly<sup>20</sup> along its longitudinal axis.<sup>14</sup> The density of current when using this technique is almost exclusively located in the target muscle, with only a slight possibility of the current strength spreading to other muscles or muscle groups not directly involved.<sup>10</sup>

The preference of the indirect method clinically can be explained, at least partly, by the difference in the excitation range of nerve and muscle tissue. The excitation range is the ratio between the current strength required for a maximal contraction and the current strength required for a minimal contraction.<sup>10</sup> For nerve tissue the excitation range is considerably smaller than that of muscle.<sup>10</sup> In stimulating a muscle through its nerve, a slight increase in current will increase the magnitude of the contraction markedly. However, to obtain the same increase in contraction force by stimulating the muscle directly, a much greater increase in

37

current is required.<sup>10</sup> Due to stimulation of sensory receptors with the increased intensity, the magnitude of contraction may be limited by pain in the latter case.

#### ELECTRICAL MUSCLE STIMULATION STUDIES

Several recent studies have attempted to duplicate the Russian protocol.<sup>23</sup> <sup>31</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>79</sup> Curwin et al.,<sup>24</sup> in a biochemical study, examined the effects of EMS in the rehabilitation of post-surgical knees. All patients were immobilized for six weeks following anterior cruciate ligament reconstructive surgery. Serial muscle biopsies were made during the immobilization period and for 12 weeks after removal of the cast. The patients were divided into two groups; one group received physiotherapy involving no EMS and the other group received. physiotheraphy including EMS. A high frequency (2500cps) electrostimulator provided the external stimulus for the EMS group. The current, modulated by interruptions of 10ms every 20ms (that is, 10ms on followed by 10ms off), was applied to the patients using a 15/50/10 protocol. The results show that there was no significant difference in glycogen concentration. between the two groups. However, there was an increase in myofibrillar ATPase in the EMS group as compared to a decrease in the other (control) group. It was not reported whether or not this difference was significant. Stanish et al.,<sup>79</sup> conducting a similar study to that of Curwin et al., did report a significant difference between the two groups in regard to myofribrillar ATPase ( $p \le 0.05$ ). These researchers concluded that immobilization of a muscle for six weeks has a significant detrimental effect on myofibrillar ATPase. It appears that EMS can prevent some of the deteriorating biochemical changes that occur in muscle when it has been immobilized for a period of time.

Laughman et al.<sup>55</sup> and Currier and Mann<sup>23</sup>, using similar methodology, evaluated the ability of EMS to increase normal quadriceps strength. Both studies compared a control group, an isometrically exercised group and an electrically stimulated group. A fourth group which received voluntary exercise combined with superimposed electrical stimulation was added to the comparison in Currier and Mann's study. A high frequency (2500cps) stimulator exhibiting a

modulated sine wave of 50pps (10ms on, 10ms off) was applied to the quadriceps via the indirect technique for all groups receiving stimulation. A 15/50/10 protocol was utilized for 15-25 sessions over a five week period. It was reported that the isometrically exercised group, the electrically stimulated group and the isometrically exercised group with super-imposed stimulation had significantly higher torque increases than the control group, even after the adjustment was made for initial strength differences. No significant difference in torque was observed between the experimental groups.

Other studies in the literature have utilized the 10/50/10 protocol of the Russian Technique but have used a low frequency faradic current.<sup>30</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>54</sup> <sup>62</sup> Although all of these studies examined the quadriceps muscle group, the sample population, electrode placement, and treatment frequency was inconsistent.

Johnson et al.<sup>41</sup> applied a low frequency (65cps) faradic current to the quadriceps of patients with varying degrees of chondromalacia patella and muscle atrophy via the indirect technique. With the knee flexed at five degrees, the patient received 20 treatment sessions of maximally tolerated stimulation. The results revealed an increase in quadriceps strength ranging from 25-200% which was directly dependent upon the severity of the patient's condition, and upon the frequency and number of the stimulations. However, this study failed to include a comparison group.

Another study involving a strength improvement program for atrophied quadriceps was conducted by Godfrey et al.<sup>33</sup> Patients sustaining either surgery or injury to the knee were randomly assigned to an isometrically exercised group or an electrically stimulated group. The 10/50/10 sequence was followed by both groups for 12 sessions with the muscle contracting either voluntarily or artificially. A faradic current with a frequency of 60cps was applied via the direct method to the patients in the stimulated group.

Although trained isometrically, the patients were tested for maximum isokinetic torque generated by the quadriceps on a Cybex II dynamometer at angular velocities of 3, 10 and 25 revolutions per minute (rpm). The results showed that the EMS group had a significantly

higher average than the isometrically exercised group at 3rpm but not at 10 or 25rpm (p  $\leq$  0.05).

Similar to Godfrey et al.,<sup>35</sup> Eriksson and Haggmark<sup>36</sup> conducted a study comparing two groups of patients undergoing quadriceps strengthening. Dissimilar to Godfrey et al., however, the patients in Eriksson and Haggmark's study received a faradic current with a frequency of 200cps, for five to six seconds followed by a five second rest for one hour daily, five days a week for four weeks. The results from the study indicated that there was better muscle function with less atrophy of the quadriceps in the group acquiring stimulation and that there was a significantly higher oxidative enzyme activity (specifically, succinate dehydrogenase) in this group when compared to the non-stimulated group.

In training the quadriceps of healthy subjects utilizing the 10/50/10 protocol, Kramer and Semple<sup>34</sup> studied the effect of EMS on strength gains as compared to traditional methods of training over a period of 10-12 sessions. A control group, an isometrically exercised group, an electrically stimulated group and an isometrically exercised group with superimposed electrical stimulation were examined with a faradic, alternating current (assymetrical, biphasic rectangular wave pulse of 1.0ms at 100cps) providing the stimulus for the stimulated groups. No significant difference was reported between the trained groups. A significant increase in strength was noted in the experimental groups, however, when compared to the control group.

A similar study was conducted by McMiken et al..<sup>62</sup> An isometrically exercised group and an electrically stimulated group receiving a faradic current exhibiting a square wave of 0.1ms duration at a frequency of 75cps, when compared for strength gains, showed no significant difference. A control group was not included in the study.

Currie: al.<sup>22</sup> supported the results of the previous studies.<sup>54</sup> <sup>62</sup> A rectangular wave delivered at 25cps was indirectly applied to normal quadriceps employing a 6/10/6 format. Although Currier and his associates found no significant difference between the isometrically exercised group (19% improvement) and the isometrically exercised group with EMS superimposed (21% improvement), it was revealed that these experimental groups did differ significantly from the control group over 10 sessions.

It appears from these studies that repeated cutaneous electrical stimulation is comparable in effectiveness to common strengthening methods of isometric or dynamic exercise with no undesirable side effects. In studies using patients, EMS was actually reported to be superior to traditional rehabilitation techniques.<sup>23 54 55 60 62</sup> Furthermore, electrical stimulation superimposed on voluntary effort does not enhance strength gains beyond that achieved through voluntary or electrical stimulation only programs in this population.<sup>22 23 54</sup>

### Chapter III

#### METHODOLOGY

#### A. SUBJECTS

A total of 30 university-aged males (18-31 years) volunteered for this study. The  $\lor$  subjects were healthy, having no known pathological condition(s) nor previous surgery of the either the right knee or right hip.

Each of the 30 subjects was randomly assigned to one of two indirect methods of electrode placement. On three separate test days the subjects were required to produce 10 consecutive stimulated knee extension torques. During each session the subject performed the task with a different rest interval interspersed between the consecutive torques. The three rest intervals used in the study were: i) 35s, ii) 50s and iii) 65s. Prior to testing, all subjects were randomly assigned a sequence order of these rest intervals.

#### **B. MEASUREMENT APPARATUS**

A Cybex II isokinetic dynamometer<sup>\*</sup>, capable of measuring both isometric and isokinetic torques, was used to measure the isometric torques produced by the quadriceps. The dynamometer consisted of a padded chair, a resistant lever arm, various straps to stabilize the body and a speed selector which was adjusted to 0 degrees per second (degrees/s).

A Cybex II Dual - Channel (paper) Recorder simultaneously recorded the torque (measured in ft-lb) and the angle of knee extension on a paper readout. The torque range scale was set at 0-360ft-lb and the paper speed at five millimeters per second (mm/s). The torques recorded on the printout represented the resistant torque that the dynamometer had to produce to counteract the effort torque of the subject.

\* Lumex, Inc. Bay Shore, NY 11706, USA

#### C. CALIBRATION

Calibration of the Cybex II Dual-Channel Recorder was performed with the lever arm positioned at 30 degrees from the vertical (ie. the testing angle). A Tru-Trac traction machine\* was positioned such that it pulled perpendicular to the lever arm. The force of traction was applied to the arm at a distance of 2.33 feet (ft) from the dynamometer's axis of rotation and was measured by a cable tensiometer.\*\* Knowing the force produced and the length of the lever arm, the true torque was calculated. This true torque was compared to the recorded torque registered on the recorder's readout. Each major division on the printout represented a range of 37.2-42.3ft-lb which was calibrated at the beginning of each testing day. The recorder was calibrated throughout the full scale of 0-360ft-lb and in the direction of knee extension, at the angle of testing.

#### D. ELECTRICAL MUSCLE STIMULATOR

The electrical muscle stimulator used in this study is a common, clinically used stimulator. The TECA SP5/T\*\*\* is designed for therapeutic use on normally innervated muscle. The TECA stimulator produces a faradic (alternating) current with an asymetrical square wave form. Its frequency was set at 100cps with the current being on for 1ms and off for 9ms.<sup>107</sup> The electrical stimulator was observed to provide a maximum current of 34.1 milliamperes when passed through a 1000-ohm resistor. The milliamperes of the current was measured via a Beckman 3030 multimeter.\*\*\*\* The current was well tolerated by the subjects.

• TRU-EZE Manufacturing Co, Inc, Temecula, CA 92390, USA

\*\* Pacific Scientific Co, Inc, Los Angeles, CA, USA

\*\*\* TECA Corp, Pleasantville, NY 10570, USA

1

\*\*\*\* Beckman Instruments, Inc, Brea, CA 92621, USA

#### E. TESTING PROCEDURE

Thirty volunteers were randomly assigned to one of two electrode pad placement groups. The random assignment was to minimize the effects of learning and/or conditioning. All subjects were tested using three rest intervals; i) 35s, ii) 50s and iii) 65s.

Each subject participated in four to six sessions and received similar instructions. The first one to three sessions, depending on the subject, were used to familiarize the subject with the purpose of the study, the testing procedure, the apparatus and the sensation of EMS. If the subject was unable to become comfortable with the sensation of the EMS within three practice sessions, he was eliminated from the study. Two males withdrew from the study for this reason and replaced by two other volunteers. During the first session, informed consent forms (see Appendix 1 on page 72) were signed by each subject.

The practice sessions were followed by three test sessions - one session for each rest period. A minimum of 48 hours was required between any two sessions including the practice sessions.

During all sessions, the subject used the indirect method of pad placement that he had been randomly assigned to. In group 1, the larger (9x14 centimeter or cm) proximal electrode was placed over the lumbo-sacral plexus just to the right of the subject's spinal column. The smaller (7x16cm) distal electrode was positioned over the femoral nerve which is the major nerve supplying the quadriceps. Group 2, using the same electrodes as used by the first group, placed the larger proximal electrode over the femoral nerve in the groin area and the smaller electrode over the motor points of the distal quadriceps. A motor point is the point at which the motor nerve pierces the muscle that it innervates. It is at this point that the nerve is most superficial and therefore most sensitive to the electrical stimulation.

Prior to any session, the subjectives requested to perform five minutes (min) of flexibility/warm-up exercises. The subjectives then see Cybex chair so that the back of his flexed knee was resting over the edge of the chair. The cybex seat back supported the subjects back. For shorter subjects, back pads were placed between the subject and the seat

back to render support.

her?

To fix the body in place and to prevent other muscles assisting in the action of the quadriceps, the upper body was stabilized by two shoulder straps and the pelvis by a seat belt that was placed around the hips. The right thigh which was supported along its entire length by the horizontal padded seat was secured by a velcro strap placed approximately l0cm above the patella over the thigh. The axis of rotation of the lever arm was adjusted to coincide with the rotational axis of the knee joint (ic. through the femoral condyles).<sup>49</sup> <sup>41</sup> The lower right leg was strapped against a padded block at the lower end of the adjustable lever arm. This pad was positioned so that the lower edge of the pad was just proximal to the level of the malleoli. After the lower leg was stabilized, the lever arm was adjusted so as to place the knee at 60 degrees flexion (from the horizontal).

During the first practice session, the exact positioning of the distal electrode was determined by using a small electrode probe. With the respective proximal electrode in place the two groups used the probe as the distal electrode. The stimulator was set to a low frequency pulse rate (10 pulses per minute or ppm) and the intensity to zero. For group 1, the subjects positioned the probe over their mid-groin area to locate the femoral nerve. The intensity was then gradually increased by the subject until a barely visible contraction of the quadriceps was observed. Without increasing the intensity, the probe was moved about this general region. The <sup>r</sup> point which elicited the greatest contraction at this intensity was marked with a felt pen. For group 2, three points on the distal quadricep were located. The same procedure as for the first group was used. For each of the three points, though, the intensity was turned to zero and then increased until a contraction of the respective muscles was just visible. The three muscles involved in this second group were vastus medialis, rectus femoris, and vastus lateralis. The most sensitive spots to EMS represented the motor points of these three muscles which were marked in felt pen. The marks for each groups were to be kept visible by the subject so that the probing would not be necessary each session. The distal electrode pad was then placed over the appropriate area(s). As with the proximal electrode pad, the distal electrode pad was moistened

in warm water before being placed on the subject. The cloth pad, one centimeter larger than the electrode on all sides, separated the electrode from the skin. Each electrode and pad were held firmly in place with a tensor bandage.

During the practice session the "10/50/10" (10s of stimulation, 50s of rest, repeated 10 times) sequence was used. This technique was chosen as it was the middle rest interval of the study. As well, this is the most widely used format of EMS in physiotherapy clinics for increasing muscular strength.

The subject, during the practice session, was instructed to turn up the EMS, now set on the continuous mode, until he could see the quadriceps beginning to contract. At this point, the subject gradually increased this contraction up to his maximal tolerance by increasing the current at a moderate speed. The target time for reaching maximum was two seconds. The maximally tolerated contraction was held for approximately eight seconds. Each subject repeated this 10 times with a 50s rest period between each stimulation.

During the test sessions, the same format as was followed in the practice session(s) was implemented. The subjects were requested to tolerate as much current as possible and were reminded to reach their maximal tolerance level within two seconds. Voluntary effort was discouraged. Each testing session would include ten 10s stimulated contractions interrupted by either 35, 50 or 65s rest intervals. The order in which each subject performed the three tests was determined by random assignment prior to the testing sessions.

The practice sessions took approximately 45min while each of the test sessions involved 15min. The maximum total time commitment for the subject, therefore, was three hours.

The recorder was calibrated using a tensiometer (refer to Section C. CALIBRATION on page 43) prior to each testing day throughout the study. The recorder and tensiometer demonstrated validity coefficients ranging from 0.97 to  $\geq$ 0.99 and reliability coefficients ranged from 0.98 to  $\geq$ 0.99.

The error for repeated tests on separate days using the Cybex II dynamometer to measure isometric knee extension torques with the subject's shoulders, pelvis and thigh secured

18

 $\bigcirc$ 

while in a seated position has been estimated to range from 4.1-6.5%.31

#### F. STATISTICAL DESIGN

The independent variables of this study were the three rest intervals and the two methods of pad placement. The dependent variable was the torque produced under the various combinations of independent variables. Each of the six cells contained 15 subjects.

A two-way analysis of variance with repeated measures on one factor, rest interval, was used to examine mean torque decrements, mean torques and peak torques. When a significant F was reported, a Scheffe post hoc test was used to locate the significance. A 0.05 level of significance was used throughout the analysis.

0

#### Chapter IV

#### RESULTS

The isometric, knee extension torques produced during the 10 stimulations were statistically analyzed using a two-way analysis of variance (2-way ANOVA) with repeated measures on one factor (see Appendix 2 on page 76). Groups were defined by the two different placements of electrode pads, and the repeated measures were the rest intervals of 35, 50 and 65s. Fou. dependent variables were examined: i) the torque decrement derived from the difference between the average torque of the first three stimulations and the average torque of the last three stimulations (Data 1-Table I); ii) the torque decrement derived from the difference between the average torque of the first five stimulations and the average torque of the last five stimulations (Data 2-Table II); iii) the mean torque of the 10 stimulations (Data 3-Table III); and iv) the peak torque of each session (Data 4-Table IV). A visual graphic representation for Data 1 and Data 2 is found in Figure 1 (page 51) and for Data 3 and Data 4 in Figure 2 (page 52). Conversion from ft-lb torque to newton-meter (N-m) torque can be made by multiplying by 1.35.

When observing torque decrement, significant differences were found for the main effects; a significant difference was observed in the rest interval for Data 1 ( $p\leq0.001$ ) and Data 2 ( $p\leq0.001$ ), and in pad placement for Data 1 ( $p\leq0.007$ ) and Data 2 ( $p\leq0.01$ ). No interaction effects for Data 1 or Data 2, however, were observed.

For Data 3, a significant difference was found on the rest interval factor  $(p \le 0.03)$  but not on pad placement. Conversely, for Data 4, a significant difference was found in the pad placement  $(p \le 0.05)$  but not in the rest interval. No interaction was observed between rest interval and pad placement for Data 3 or Data 4.

A Scheffe  $(p \le 0.05)$  post hoc test was applied to those means for which a factor showed a significant F-ratio (see Appendix 3 on page 79). In both Data 1 and Data 2, the post hoc test revealed that the means of the 50s and 65s rest intervals, when averaged over the pad

# TABLE I

# TORQUE DECREMENT MEANS (ft-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 1

	PAD PLACEMENT	REST INTERVAL (B)			
,	(A)	- 35s	50s	65s	
	1	46.42 (14.64)	40.02 (11.24)	33.23 (20.01)	39.89 (16.29)
	2	36.99 (21.18)	22.18 (14.39)	18.50 (18.72)	25.89 (19.63)
		41.71 (18.52)	31.10 (15.60)	25.87 (20.46)	

### TABLE II

# TORQUE DECREMENT MEANS (ft-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 2

PAD PLACEMENT	REST INTERVAL (B)			
(A)	35s	- 50s -	65s	
1	32.29 (10.48)	26.55 (8.08)	23.27 (13.25)	27.37 (11.22)
2	25.62 (16.80)	14.73 (11.29)	13.23 (12.70)	17.86 (14.59)
L	28.96 (14.17)	20.64 (10.69)	18.25 (13.74)	

 $\dot{O}$ 

# TABLE III

# MEAN TORQUE MEANS (ft-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 3

PAD	REST INTERVAL (B)			
PLACEMENT	35s	50s	65s	
1	172.13 (46.70)	187.37 (57.63)	182.85 (40.28)	180.78 (48.05)
2	151. <b>6</b> 6 (22.71)	156.19 (35.79)	162.66 (34.77)	156.84 (31.26)
L	161.90 (37.55)	171.78 (49.73)	172.76 (38.37)	

#### TABLE IV

# PEAK TORQUE MEANS (ft-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR4PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 4

¢

PAD	REST INTERVAL (B)			•••	
PLACEMENT (A)	35s	50s	65s		
1	206.63 (55.21)	216.63 (62.97)	212.68 (44.39)	211.98 (53.63)	
2	181.84 (30.74)	176.77 (33.05)	179.41 (37.17)	179.34 (33.05)	
L	194.24 (45.68)	196.70 (53.41)	196.04 (43.64)	•	









placement groups, produced less torque decrements than the mean of the 35s interval ( $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.01$  respectively). The means of 50s and 65s rest intervals, however, did not demonstrate significantly different torque decrements when averaged over pad placement groups for either Data 1 or Data 2. When averaged over rest intervals, pad placement group 1 produced greater torque decrement than pad placement group 2 for both Data 1 and Data 2 ( $p \le 0.01$ ).

Although a significant F ratio was revealed on the rest interval factor for Data 3, a Scheffe ( $p \le 0.05$ ) post hoc test did not reveal a significant difference between the rest intervals. A less conservative Tukey Test, however, denote a significant difference between the means of the 35s and 65s rest intervals ( $p \le 0.05$ ) rout no significant differences were found between either the means of the 35s and 50s intervals or of the 50s and 65s intervals (see Appendix 3 on page 79).

Data 4 revealed that pad placement group 1 produced greater peak torques than did pad placement group 2 ( $p\leq 0.05$ ) when averaged over the time intervals.

Additional 2-way ANOVA's with repeated measures on score were performed on each rest interval for Data 1 (Table V) and for Data 2 (Table VI). A significant difference was found between the scores within the 35s, 50s and 65s rest intervals for Data 1 and Data 2 ( $p \le 0.001$ ). The initial scores (the average torque of the first three or five stimulations) were significantly higher in torque than the final scores (the average torque of the last three or five stimulations) when averaged over pad placement. Pad placement was not found significant for any of the three rest intervals for either Data 1 or Data 2.

Although interaction was not evident for the 35s rest interval for either Data 1 or Data 2, interaction between pad placement and score was observed for the 50s and 65s fost intervals in Data 1 ( $p \le 0.001$  and  $p \le 0.05$  respectively) and in Data 2 ( $p \le 0.03$  and  $p \le 0.04$  respectively). A Scheffe post hoc test revealed interaction between all of the possible combinations within Data 1 and Data 2 ( $p \le 0.001$ ).

المربية والمراجع

# TABLE V

# SCORE MEANS (ft-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 1

# REST INTERVAL (B)

35s		
first 3	last 3	
196.92 ¥	150.50	
(52.60)	(40.71)	
171.99	135.01	
(28.48)	(22.92)	
184.46	142.75	
(43.45)	(33.40)	

173.71 (51.89) 153.50 (31.60)

50s	
first 3	last 3
208.63	168.61
(61.59)	(54.87)
167.27	145.09
(35.59)	(35.87)
187.95	156.85
(53.71)	(47.09)
•	

188.62 (60.82)	
156.18 (36.88)	

first 3	last 3
201.20	167.96
(41.69)	(41.39)
171.25	152.76
(35.37)	(36.26)
186.22	160.36
(40.93)	(39.01)

65s

184.58 (44.18) 162.01 (36.43)

- Al

I

**A**1

**A**1

A2

1 A2

ŧ

. 1

A2

# TABLE VI

# SCORE MEANS (f1-lb) WITH STANDARD DEVIATIONS FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 2

### REST INTERVAL (B)

35s	
first 5	last 5
188.27	155.98
(50.47)	(43.24)
164.47	138.85
(26.37)	(21.85)
176.37	147.41
(41.37)	(34.77)

172.13 (49.01) 151.66 (27.13)

**A**1

**A**]

A2

200.64	174.09
(59.89)	(55.58)
163.56	148.82
(35.46)	(36.99)
182.10	161.46
(51.91)	(48.14)

50s

last 5

first 5

187.37 (58.30) 156.19 (36.38)



A2

**A**1

A2

1

#### Chapter V

#### DISCUSSION

The subjects who volunteered for this study were highly motivated. As the result of their previous voluntary exercise training, it was believed that these athletes would be more familiar with a maximal effort and the sensation associated with it than the normal population. The same discomfort which may have been interpreted by a non-athletic person as a result of the stimulation may have been identified by an athlete as the feeling that accompanies a maximal contraction. Based on this assumption, it was anticipated that the selected population may have been better able to tolerate the stimulation. This assumption proved to be fairly accurate as only two of 30 subjects were forced to discontinue due to their inability to become accustomed to the stimulus. These two volunteers were replaced to maintain the 30 subject total for the study.

The majority of the subjects tolerated the stimulation so well that 60% (18 out of 30) were able to withstand the maximal intensity output of the stimulator. Of this 60%, 55% (10 subjects) were able to reach the maximum output of the stimulator during the practice sessions. It appears, therefore, that over half of the subjects could have tolerated more current intensity and, as a result, did not achieve a physiologically maximal electrical stimulation based contraction. Whether or not this would have translated into greater torques is beyond the scope of the present investigation.

Comparing pad placement groups, it was noted that nine of the 18 subjects who were able to tolerate the maximal intensity output of the electrical muscle stimulator were from pad placement group 1 and the other nine were from group 2. Six of the 10 subjects who reached the maximal output of the machine during the practice sessions were from group 1 while only four were from group 2. With regard to tolerating the maximal output of the stimulator, it would appear that the two pad placements were equivalent.

TORQUE DECREMENT AND MEAN TORQUE: The results of the statistical analysis revealed that the 50s and 65s rest intervals produced significantly less torque decrement  $(p \le 0.05 \text{ and } p \le 0.01 \text{ respectively})$  than the 35s rest interval when averaged over pad placement, regardless of whether the average torque of the last three stimulations was subtracted from the first three stimulations (Data 1 - Table I on page 49) or the average of the last five stimulations was subtracted from the first five stimulations (Data 2 <sup>4</sup> Table II on page 49). The less torque decrement associated with the two longer rest intervals appears to be reasonable, as one would anticipate that a muscle given more time to recuperate between stimulations would be better able to maintain the initial level of tension than a muscle with a recovery period of shorter duration. With the 35s rest period interspersed between the stimulated contractions, muscular fatigue was more apparent as evident by the greater torque

decrement.

When the 10 stimulations per session were averaged and the means compared, it is revealed that the 65s rest interval produced significantly greater mean torques ( $p \le 0.05$ ) than the 35s rest interval (Data 3 - Those II) on page 50). It would appear that the longest rest period enabled the muscle to recover from the previous stimulation to a greater degree than the shortest rest interval, thereby, permitting stronger contractions over the 10 stimulations to be generated by the 65s interval.

Since no difference in torque decrement or mean torque was observed between the twolonger intervals of rest, it is suggested that the 50s rest between the 10 stimulated contractions of the quadriceps permits a similar strength training stimulus as does the 65s rest. The equal strength improving potential of the 50s and 65s intervals has important clinical significance. A treatment session utilizing the 10/50/10 protocol requires nine minutes and 10s while a 10/65/10 session necessitates 11min and 25s. The 10/50/10 sequence is able to accomplish physiological changes similar to the 10/65/10 protocol but in a shorter period of time. For practical purposes, therefore, the 50s rest interval would be selected over the 65s interval because of the more efficient use of time. To further emphasize the importance of this finding, a hypothetical situation is proposed. If a therapist, during a seven hour workday, did nothing other than conduct EMS strengthening sessions, he or she would be able to treat just less than 49 (48.8) patients per day using the 10/50/10 protocol, or just less than 37 (36.8) patients per day using the 10/65/10 protocol. In one day, therefore, nine additional patients could receive EMS therapy utilizing the 10/50/10, 25, opposed to **m** is 10/65/10, protocol.

An additional advantage of using the 10/50/10 sequence is the ease at which the therapist can keep track of the time, as well as, the number of stimulations that have occured within a session. In using a stopwatch, the stimulated contraction commences when the stopwatch is started. The contraction lasts for 10s. With a 50s rest, the muscle receives its second stimulation at one minute. Within each minute of treatment, therefore, the muscle receives stimulation for the first 10s and then relaxes for the remaining 50s. The tenth stimulation commences when nine minutes appears on the stopwatch.

Many of the EMS strength training studies have employed a 50s rest interval between 10 stimulated contractions.<sup>23</sup> <sup>24</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>40</sup> <sup>41</sup> <sup>54</sup> <sup>55</sup> <sup>62</sup>. Few studies have advocated the 10/35/10 protocol for improving muscular strength. In prescribing an interval fraining program, however, Mathews and Fox<sup>41</sup> have suggested that a 10/30/10 protocol repeated five times within one workout is able to train the ATP-PC energy system. It is this system that provides the required energy for maximal efforts of short duration. The inability of the present study to support Mathews and Fox's claim may not depend so much on the rest interval selected, perhaps, as on the mode of training utilized (i.e. EMS vs voluntary effort). More research comparing these two training methods is definitely required.

5

muscular contraction.535

The results of the present study, thus far, support Kots' claim that a 50s rest interval interspersed between ten 10s stimulated contractions creates a greater strength stimulus than a shorter interspersed rest period.<sup>53</sup> The results of this study, however, do not support Kots' statement that the tenth stimulated contraction of a session, is as "maximal" as the first

Within all three rest intervals, it was found that the average torque of the first three and of the first five stimulations was significantly higher ( $p \le 0.001$ ) than the average torque of the last three and of the last five stimulations (refer to Table V on pa 54 and Table VI on page 55). Within each session, therefore, a significant loss of ability to produce a maximal stimulated contraction was evident. The decrease in torque, however, more significant when the overall torque decrement of the 50s and 65s rest interval sessions was compared to the torque decrement of the 35s rest interval session, as was previously discussed.

Û

TORQUE DECREMENT AND PEAK TORQUE: In observing the two indirect methods of electrode pad placement, it was found that pad placement group 1 demonstrated significantly greater torque decrement than pad placement group 2 (refer to Tables I and II on page 49). The larger decrement for group 1 was significant when both the average of the final three torques was subtracted from the initian three torques (Data  $1 \cdot p \le 0.007$ ) and when the average of the final five torques was subtracted from the initian three torques (Data  $1 \cdot p \le 0.007$ ) and when the average of the final five torques was subtracted from the initial five torques (Data  $2 \cdot p \le 0.01$ ). Interpreting torque decrement to represent fatigue, pad placement group 1 exhibited more fatigue during a 10 stimulation session than did pad placement group 2.

The greater fatigue experienced by group 1 may be explained by the fact that pad placement group 1 produced significative higher peak torques ( $p \le 0.05$ ) than pad placement group 2 (Data 4 - Table IV on page 50). Since strength of a contraction is inversely related to the length of time for which the contraction can be maintained for,<sup>34</sup> a stronger contraction will result in the muscle fatiguing faster. Fatigue occurs due to the accumulation of metabolites and/or the depletion of energy stores. These two processes occur more quickly during muscle contractions of higher torque than contractions of lower torque.

The higher torque produced by pad placement group 1 may be a result of more muscle fibers, and in particular more FT fibers, being recruited than with the pad placement group 2. A possible explanation for the increased recruitment of muscle fibers may be related to the size of the nerve being stimulated. The lumbo-sacral nerve trunk (L3-L4) is larger than is the femoral nerve,<sup>1</sup> With the electrical threshold of a nerve being inversely proportional to the
diameter of the nerve's axon during EMS, the lumbo-sacral trunk should be more easily excited than the femoral nerve. For the same intensity level, therefore, more fibers should be recruited in pad placement group 1 than pad placement group 2, which does not involve the lumbo-sacral trunk.

The size of the electrode may also help to explain the torque difference between the two pad placement groups. A small electrode increases the current density per unit area and, hence, decreases the threshold required to stimulate an excitable tissue. The smaller electrode in group 1 being placed over the femoral nerve, which innervates the quadriceps, may stimulate more motor neurons than having the larger electrode over the femoral nerve as in group 2. Stimulating more motor neurons causes a stronger muscular contraction.

A third interpretation of the discrepency in peak torque found between the two pad placements is related to pain. It may be that the location of the two electrodes in group 2 are situated over areas containing more subcutaneous adipose tissue than the placement of the pads int group 1. In order for the current to penetrate the adipose tissue to stimulate the underlying muscle fibers, the intensity must be increased. The increase in intensity causes more superficial nerve endings to be stimulated which increases the pain level. Pain, therefore, may be a limitation of pad placement group 2 to produce large torques.

<u>ſ</u>

ĝ

With FT fibers being responsible for producing strong, short duration contractions, it is possible that the higher torque produced by group 1 is not only a result of the number of muscle fibers recruited but also the type of muscle fiber preferentially selected. In group 1, the electrode pads are in closer proximity to each other than the pads in group 2. As the distance between the electrodes decreases, the more superficial the current becomes. Since FT fibers are more superficially located, it is suggestive that these fibers are predominantly stimulated during EMS using the pad placement of group 1. Electrodes that are spaced further apart, such as those in group 2, facilitate the recruitment of deeper excitable tissue (i.e. ST fibers).

Regardles: of the reason, the greater torque produced in group 1 has important clinical significance. In practical terms, the placement of the electrodes used in group 1 is perferable

when the motor points of the distal quadriceps are inaccessible as would be the case with the presence of a cast or wound. As well, group 1's electrode placement may be selected if the knee is effused. Swelling in a joint causes the current to spread which decreases the amount of current reaching the target (i.e. motor points).<sup>77</sup>

With regard to training, it appears that the pad placement utilized by group 1 would be beneficial for improving strength as greater tension was produced by the muscle during EMS using this technique. The positioning of the electrodes used in group 2 appear to be preferable when the goal of the EMS sessions is to increase muscular endurance since less fatigue (i.e. less torque decrement) was associated with this group.

PERCENT MVC: The subjects in group 2 were only able to generate 84% of the MVC that the subjects in group 1 were able to produce voluntarily. When contrasting the force produced by the two groups during EMS, however, group 2 averaged slightly higher mean torques than group 1 (88% MVC for group 2 and 85% MVC for group 1). Perhaps the lower voluntary efforts of group 2 could account for their relatively high %MVC with the stimulated contractions.

When the average of the three peak torques for each subject was compared to their respective MVC, 17% (5 out of 30) of the subjects produced greater torques of the quadriceps with stimulation than with voluntary effort. Three of these five subjects were from group 2. It is speculated that perhaps these subjects were unable to reach their physiological maximum in muscular strength voluntarily as they may not participate regularly in heavy resistance training. Details of the subjects' training programs at the time of testing were not recorded by the author.

All of the 30 subjects, however, were able to produce a mean peak torque averaged over the three sessions that was greater than 60% MVC. This percentage was superior to Knuttgen's<sup>51</sup> minimal 50% MVC recommendation necessary to increase the strength of a muscle. All subjects, therefore, were able to generate a stimulated contraction of sufficient intensity to produce a strength training stimulus, at least, at the beginning of the 10 stimulation

С

session (since it was the peak torques that were averaged).

• 3

In addition, at muscular tensions of 60% MVC or greater, the blood within the muscle becomes occluded. With the restriction of blood flow, and thus the availability of oxygen, it is postulated that the FT fibers were perferentially recruited since these fibers gain their energy from anaerobic sources. Paradoxically, these are the fibers that are responsible for producing a more intense contraction. Thus, it is the FT fibers which are being stressed at these levels of tension. Since both groups produced high levels of tensions within the muscle, it is speculated that the two groups experienced blood occlusion which would explain, at least partially, the presence of fatigue. No statistical comparison between the two groups with respect to % MVC, however, was conducted.

62

0

Lin.

#### Chapter VI

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

<sup>ي</sup>ن (

Electrical stimulation h been used for centuries as a means of rehabilitating injured tissue. Only recently has it been suggested that electrical stimulation be applied to normal tissue to induce advantageous physiological changes. In the mid 1960's, Kots claimed that electrical muscle stimulation (EMS) can be used to increase the isometric strength of the normal muscle by as much as 30% following 20 treatments using what is referred to as the "Russian Technique". This technique consists of 10 maximally stimulated isometric contractions held for 10s with 50s rest between stimulations. The 10/50/10 protocol is popularly used in North American therapy clinics. To date, however, there is little published data that supports the claim that the 10/50/10 protocol is the optimum stimulus for increasing muscular strength.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect on torque of varying the rest period between isometric electrically induced contractions of the knee extensor muscles. A comparison of torque produced using two conventional methods of pad placement was also included in this study. Group 1 received the electric current via a distal electrode pad placed over the femoral nerve and a proximal pad placed over the lumbo-sacral area while group 2 received the stimulation through a distal electrode pad positioned over the motor points of the quadriceps and a proximal pad positioned over the femoral nerve.

The 30 university-aged males who volunteered for this study were randomly assigned to one of the two indirect methods of pad placement. All subjects produced 10 maximally stimulated isometric; contractions of the quadriceps per session on a Cybex II dynamometer positioned at 30 degrees from the vertical. For each of the three test sessions, the participants used a different rest interval (35, 50 or 65s) between the 10 stimulations which was randomly assigned prior to testing. Torque decrements between the first three and last three stimulations and between the first five and last five stimulations, as well as, mean torques and peak torques were determined from the 10 stimulations within each session.

Prior to each testing day, the Cybex II dynamometer and paper recorder, which measured and recorded respectively the isometric torques produced by the quadriceps, were calibrated at the testing angle (i.e. 30 degrees from the vertical) using a Tru-Trac traction machine. The force of traction, measured by a cable tensiometer, was applied perpendicular to the lever arm at a distance of 2.33ft from the dynamometer's axis of rotation and in the direction of knee extension. Calibration was performed throughout the full 0-360ft-lb scale utilized during the test sessions.

A 2-way ANOVA with repeated measures on rest interval was used to examine the mean torque decrements, mean torques and peak torques. The results of this study were:

the 50s and 65s rest intervals produced less torque decrements than was produced with the 35s interval ( $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.01$ respectively) but were not significantly different from each other

pad placement group 1 produced greater torque decrements than was produced with pad placement group 2 ( $p \le 0.01$ )

the 65s rest interval produced a greater mean torque than was produced with the 35s rest interval ( $p \le 0.05$ )

4. no significant difference in mean torque was found between either the 35s and 50s intervals or the 50s and 65s intervals

pad placement group 1 produced greater peak torques than was produced with pad placement group 2 ( $p\leq 0.05$ )

6.

5.

1.

2.

3.

the average torque of the initial three and five stimulations were significantly greater than the average torque of the final three and five stimulations respectively ( $p \le 0.001$ ) The results of the present study concur with Kots' statement that a 50s rest interval between 10 consecutive 10s maximally stimulated isometric contractions provides a better strength stimulus than a shorter rest period. The results of this study, however, cannot support Kots' claim that the tenth stimulated torque is of the same intensity of contraction as the first stimulated torque using the 10/50/10 protocol. Within all three (10/35/10, 10/50/10 and 10/65/10) sessions a significant decrease in torque was observed.

On the basis of the results of the present study, it was concluded that the 50s and 65s rest intervals provided the best stimulus for improving muscular strength as these rest intervals produced the greater mean torques and less torque decrements than the 35s rest interval. From a practical consideration, a therapist would select the 50s rest interval over the 65s rest interval during an EMS strengthening session as time is used more efficiently. With regard to pad placement, it was concluded that group 1 was superior to group 2 for increasing muscular strength as the former placement produced greater peak torques and greater torque decrements than the latter placement. It is anticipated that this would lead to a more optimal strength training stimulus.

#### SELECTED REFERENCES

1. Anderson JE: Grant's Atlas of Anatomy (7th ed). Baltimore, The Williams and Wilkins Co, 1978

2. Armstrong RB: Skeletal muscle physiology. In <u>Sports Medicine and Physiology</u>, edited by RH Strauss. Toronto, WB Saunders Co, 1979, pp 29-48

3. Asmussen E, Mazin B: A central nervous component in local muscular fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 38: 9-15, 1978

4. Astrand PO, Rodahl K: <u>Textbook of Work Physiology</u> (2nd ed). New York, McGraw-Hill Book Co, 1977

- 5. Benton LA, Baker LL, Bowman BR, Water RL: <u>Functional Electrical Stimulation A</u> <u>Practical Clinical Guide</u> (2nd ed). California, Rancho Los Amigos Rehabilitation Emergency Centre, 1981
- 6. Berger RA: Optimum repetition for the development of strength. <u>Res Quart</u> 33: 334-338, 1962
- 7. Bigland B, Lippold OCJ: Motor unit activity in voluntary contraction of human muscle. J Physiol 125: 322-335, 1954
- 8. Bigland-Ritchie B, Jones DA, Hosking GP, Edwards RHT: Central and peripheral fatigue in sustained maximum voluntary contraction of human quadriceps muscle. <u>Clin</u> Sci Molec Med 54: 609-614, 1978
- 9. Bolstad G, Ersland A: Energy metabolism in different human skeletal muscles during voluntary isometric contraction. <u>Eur J App Physiol Occup Physiol</u> 38: 171-179, 1978
- 10. Bouman HD, Shaffer K: Physiological basis of electrical stimulation of human muscle and its clinical application. Phys Ther Rev 37(4): 207-223, 1957
- 11. Burke JF, Pocock GS, Wallis WD: Electrophysical bracing in peripheral nerve lesions. Phys Ther 43: 501-504, 1963
- 12. Caldwell LS: Decrement and recovery with repetitive maximal muscular exertions. <u>Hum</u> <u>Factors</u> 12: 547-552, 1970
- 13. Caldwell LS, Lyddan JM: Serial isometric fatigue functions with variable intertrial intervals. J Motor Behav 3(1): 17-30, 1971
- 14. Clarke DH: Strength recovery from static and dynamic muscular fatigue. <u>Res Quart</u> 33: 349-355, 1962
- 15. Clarke DH: The influence on muscular fatigue patterns of the intercontraction rest interval. Med Sci Sport 3(2): 83-88, 1971
- 16. Clarke DH, Smith LE: Strength recovery from isometric fatigue during and after circulatory occlusion. J Assoc Phys Ment Rehabil 20: 123-128, 1966

- 17. Clarke DH, <sup>[</sup>Stull GA: Strength recovery patterns following isometric and isotonic exercise. J Motor Behav 1(3): 233-243, 1969
- 18. Clarke HH, Elkins EC, Martin GM, Wakim KG: Relationship between body position and the application of muscle power to movements of the joints. <u>Arch Phys Med</u> Rehab 31: 81-89, 1950
- 19. Close JR: Motor Function in the Lower Extremity. Springfield, Charles C Thomas, 1964
- 20. Cummings G: Physiological basis of electrical stimulation in skeletal muscle. Can Athl Ther Assoc J 7: 7-12, 1980
- 21. Currier DP: Positioning for knee strengthening exercises. Phys Ther 57: 148-152, 1977
- 22. Currier DP, Lehman J, Lightfoot P: Electrical stimulation in exercise of the quadriceps femoris muscle. Phys Ther 59(12): 1508-1512, 1979
- 23. Currier DP, Mann R: Muscular strength development by electrical stimulation in healthy individuals. <u>Phys Ther</u> 63: 915-921, 1983
- 24. Curwin S, Stanish WD, Valiant G: Clinical applications and biochemical effects of high frequency electrical stimulation. Can Athl Ther Assoc J 7(1): 15-16, 1980
- 25. Edgerton VR: The nervous system. In <u>Sports Medicine and Physiology</u>, edited W CH Strauss. Toronto, WB Saunders Go, 1979, pp 49-62
- 26. Edwards RHT: Muscle Fatigue. Postgrad Med J 51: 137-143, 1975

1.

Ű

- 27. Edwards RHT: Physiological analysis of sketetal muscle weakness and fatigue. <u>Clin Sci</u> Molec Med 54: 463-470, 1978
- 28. Edwards RHT, Hill DK, Jones DA: Heat production and chemical changes during isometric contractions of the human quadriceps muscle. J Physiol 251: 303-315, 1975
- 29. Edwards RHT, Young A, Hosking GP, Jones DA: Human skeletal muscle function: description of tests and normal values. <u>Clin Sci Molec Med</u> 52: 283-290, 1977
- 30. Eriksson E, Haggmark To Comparison of isometric muscle training and electrical stimulation supplementing isometric muscle training in the recovery after major knee ligament surgery. <u>Am J Sports Med</u> 7(3): 169-171,1979
- 31. Eriksson E, Haggmark T, Kiessling TH, Karlsson J: Effect of electrical stimulation on human skeletal muscle. Intl J Sports Med 2: 18-22, 1981
- 32. Fardy PS: Isometric exercise and the cardiovascular system. Phys Sportsmed 9(9): 42-56, 1981
- 33. Gersten JW, Gilmore W, Vintere R, Wood C, Kaswashima E: Relation of stimulus frequency and sensory nerve supply to the tension developed in normal and denervated muscle by electrical stimulation. <u>Arch Phys Med Rehab</u> 35: 350-357, 1954
- 34. Gillani NV, Ghista DN: Muscle fatigue induced by sustained isometric contractions. <u>Hum</u> Factors 15: 67-73, 1973

- 35. Godfrey CM, Jayawardena H, Guance TA, Welsh P: Comparison of electro-stimulation and isometric exercise in strengthening the quadriceps muscle. <u>Physiother Can</u> 31(5): 265-267, 1979
- 36. Gollnick PD, Karlson J, Piehl K, Satin B: Selective glycogen depletion in skeletal muscle fibres of man following sustained contraction. J Physiol 241: 59-67, 1974
- 37. Grimby G, and Hannerz J: Firing rate and recruitment order of toe extension motor units in different modes of voluntary contraction. J Physiol 264: 865-879, 1977
- 38. Guyton AC: <u>Basic Human Physiology Normal Function and Mechanisms of Disease</u>. Toronto, WB Saunders Co, 1977
- 39. Haffajee D, Moritz U, Svantesson G: Isometric knee extension strength as a function of joint angle, muscle length and motor unit activity. <u>Acta Orthop Scand</u> 43: 138-147, 1972
- 40. Halback JW, Straus D: Comparison of electro-myo stimulation to isokinetic training in increasing power of the knee extensor mechanism. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2: 20-24, 1980
- 41. Hambrecht T, Reswick JB (eds): <u>Functional Electrical Stimulation Applications in Neural</u> Prostheses. New York, Marcel Dekker Inc, 1977

42. Hannerz J: Discharge properties of motor units in relation to recruitment order in voluntary contraction. Acta Physiol Scand 91(3): 374-385, 1974

43. Harris RC, Edwards RHT, Hultman E, Nordesjo LO, Nylind B, Sahlin K: The time course of phosphorylcreatine resynthesis during recovery of the quadriceps muscle in man. <u>Pfugers Arch</u> 367: 137-142, 1976

- 44. Hood LB, Forward EM: Strength variation in the determination of maximal isometric contractions. Phys Ther 45: 1046-1053, 1965
- 45. Houston ME: Effects of electrical stimulation on skeletal muscle of injured and healthy athletes. Can J Appl Sport Sci 8: 49-51, 1983
- 46. Houtz SJ, Lebow MJ, Beyer FR: Effect of posture on strength of the knee flexor and extensor muscles. J Appl Physiol 11: 475-480, 1957
- 47. Ianuzzo CD: The cellular composition of human skeletal muscle. In <u>Neuromuscular</u> <u>Mechanisms for Therapeutic and Conditioning Exercises</u>, edited by H Knuttgen. Baltimore, University Press, 1976, pp 31-53
- 48. Johnson DH, Thurston P, Asheroft PJ: The Russian technique of faradism in the treatment of chondromalacia patella. Physiother Can 29(5): 266-268, 1977
- 49. Kelley DL: <u>Kinesiology: Fundamentals of Motion Description</u>. New Jersey, Prentice-Hall Inc, 1971
- 50. Knuttgen HG: Development of muscular strength and endurance. In <u>Neuromuscular</u> <u>Mechanisms for Therapeutic and Conditioning Exercises</u>, edited by HG Knuttgen. Baltimore, University Press, 1976, pp 97-118

- 51. Knuttgen HG: Physiological factors in fatigue. In <u>Physical Work and Effort</u>, edited by G Borg. Toronto, Pergamon Press, 1977, pp 13-24
- 52. Kots YM: Electrostimulation Symposium on electrostimulation of skeletal muscles. Canadian-Soviet Exchange Symposium, Concordia University, December 6-10, 1977
- 53. Kots YM and Chuilon VA: The training of muscular power by method of electrical stimulation. State Central Insitute of Physical Culture, USSR, 1975
- 54. Kramer JF, Semple JE: Comparison of selected strengthening techniques for normal quadriceps. <u>Physiother Can</u> 35(6): 300-304, 1983
- 55. Laughman RK, Youdas JW, Garrett TR, Chao EYS: Strength changes in the normal quadriceps femoris muscle as a result of electrical stimulation. Phys Ther 63(4): 494-499, 1983
- 56. Lind AR, McNicol GW: Muscular factors which determine the cardiovascular responses to sustained and rhythmic exercise. <u>Can Med Assoc J</u> 96: 706-715, 1967
- 57. Lindahl O, Movin A, Ringqvist I: Knee extension: measurement of the isometric force in different positions of knee joint. Acta Orthop Scand 40: 79-85, 1969
- 58. Lindh M: Increase of muscle strength from isometric quadriceps exercise at different knee angles. <u>Scand J Rehab Med</u> 11: 33-36, 1978
- 59. MacDougall JD, War GR, Sale DG, Sutton JR: Biochemical adaptation of human skeletal muscle to heavy resistance training-immobilization. J Appl Physiol 43: 700-703, 1977
- 60. Massey BH, Nelson RC, Sharkey BC, Comden T: Effects of high frequency electrical stimulation on the size and strength of skeletal muscle. <u>Sports Med Phys Fit</u> 5: 136-144, 1965
- 61. Mathews DK, Fox EL: The Physiological Basis of Physical Education and Athletics (2nd ed). Toronto, WB Saunders Co, 1976
- 62. McMiken D, Todd-Smith M, Thompson C: Strengthening of human quadriceps muscles by cutaneous electrical stimulation. Scand J Rehab Med 15(1): 25-28, 1983
- 63. Mendler HM: Effect of stabilization on maximum isometric knee extensor force. Phys Ther 47: 375-379, 1967
- 64. Merton PA: Voluntary strength and fatigue. J Physiol 123: 553-564, 1954
- 65. Milner M, Quanberry AO, Basmajian JD: Surface electrical stimulation of lower limb. Arch Phys Med Rehab 51: 540-544, 548, 1970
- .6. Milner-Brown HS, Stein RB, Yemm R: The orderly recruitment of human motor units during voluntary isometric contractions. J Physiol 230: 359-370, 1973
- 67. Munsat TL, McNeal D, Water R: Effects of nerve stimulation on human muscle. <u>Arch</u> <u>Neurol</u> 33: 608-616, 1976

- 68. Murray NP, Baldwin JM, Gardener RM, Sepic SB, Downs WJ: Maximum isometric knee flexor and extensor muscle contractions-normal patterns of torque versus time. <u>Phys Ther</u> 57: 637-643, 1977
- 69. Poland JL, Hobart DJ, Payton OD, Fairchild CL: <u>The Musculoskeletal System Body</u> Systems Series. New York, Medical Examination Publishing Co Inc, 1977
  - Powers WR: Nervous system control of muscular activity. In <u>Neurovascular Mechanisms</u> for <u>Therapeutic and Conditioning Exercise</u>, editied by H. Knuttgen. Baltimore, University Press, 1976, pp 1-30
- 71. Rarick GL, Larsen GL: Observation on frequency and intensity of isometric muscular effort in developing static muscular strength in post-pubescent males. <u>Res</u> <u>Quart</u> 29: 333-341, 1958
- 72. Reid C? The mechanism of voluntary muscular fatigue. <u>Quart J Exp Physiol</u> 19: 17-42, 1928-1929
- 73. Richard G, Currier DP: Back stabilization during knee strengthening exercise. Phys Ther 57(9): 1013-1015, 1977
- 74. Rose DL, Radzyminsk SF, Beatty RR: Effect of brief maximal exercise on the strength of the quadriceps femoris. <u>Arch Phys Med Rehab</u> 38: 157-164, 1957
- 75. Royce J: Isometric fatigue curves in human muscle with normal and occluded circulation. <u>Res Quart</u> 29: 204-212, 1958
- 76. Schench JM, Forward EM: Quantitative strength changes with test repetitions. <u>Phys Ther</u> 45: 562-569, 1965
- 77. Scott PM: Clayton's Electrotherapy and Actinotherapy, London, Bailliere Tindall, 1975
- 78. Simonson E (ed): <u>Physiology of Work Capacity and Fatigue</u>. Springfield, Charles C Thomas, 1971
- 9. Stanish WD, Valiant GA, Bonin A, Belcastro AN: The effects of immobilization and o<sup>c</sup> electrical stimulation on muscle glycogen and myofibrillar ATPase. <u>Can J Ap</u>.
  <u>Sport Sci</u> 7(4): 267-271, 1982
- 80. Stephens JA, Taylor A: Fatigue of maintained voluntary muscle contractions in man. <u>J</u> <u>Physiol</u> 220: 1-18, 1972
- 81. Stillwell GK: Clinical electrical stimulation. In <u>Therapeutic Electricity and Ultraviolet</u> Radiation, edited by S Licht. E Licht Pub, New Haven, 1967, pp 105-155

82. Strauss RH (ed): Sports Medicine and Physiology. Toronto, WB Saunders Co, 1979

83. Tesch P: Muscle fatigue in man with special reference to lactate accumulation during short term intense exercise. Acta Physiol Scand (Suppl) 480, 1980

84. Trykoczy A: Functional electrical stimulation of extremities: its basis, technology and role in rehabilitation. <u>Automedica</u> 2: 59- 100, 1978

85. Vander AJ, Sherman JH, Luciano DS: Human Physiology - The Mechanism of Body Function (2nd ed). New York, McGraw-Hill Book Co, 1975 ş,

12

(+ . )

71

- 86. Vitushking SM, Bratslavskya EP: Evaluating the therapeutic effectiveness of sinusoidal modulated currents in injuries and disorders of the support-motor systems of athletes. Teor Prakt Fiz Kul't 10: 35-37, 1977 .
- 87. Walmsley RP, Swann I: Biomechanics and physiology of muscle strengthening. Physiother ≈ <u>Can</u> 28(4): 197-200, 1971
- 88. Williams M, Stutzman L: Strength variation through the range of motion. Phys Ther 39: <u>145-152, 1959</u>

.9. Wise D: Electrical muscle stimulation, Coaching Sci Update 1:51-52, 1979-80

è.

**)**#3

j,



## The University of Alberta

Department of Physical Education

#### INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR THE INVESTIGATIVE STUDY:

### EFFECTS OF VARIATION IN REST INTERVAL

## AND ELECTRODE PLACEMENT ON

# ISOMETRIC TORQUES INDUCED BY ELECTRICAL STIMULATION

# Outline of Procedures (retained by subject)

For a number of years, electrical stimulation techniques have bein used in the rehabilitation of damaged tissues. In more recent years, the effect of electrical termination on notmal tissue has produced a new interest. Russian researchers, suggesting, that electrical stimulation training can enhance muscular strength, have reported up to 30% greater isometric force produced during an electrically induced muscular contraction than during a maximal voluntary contraction, and that 30 40% strength gains have followed an electrical stimulation based training program. The basis for this claim is that electrically induced muscular contractions can activate more of the muscle fibers in a muscle than a maximal voluntary contraction:

The "Russian Technique", an electrical stimulation strength training program, consists of stimulating a specific muscle for a 10 second duration causing a maximal isometric (no movement in the joint) contraction. Ten electrically stimulated efforts interrupted by a 50 second rest period constitutes one treatment session. The Russians suggested that the "10/50/10" protocol (10 seconds of stimulation; 50 seconds rest; repeated 10 times) represents the maximal workload that a muscle can tolerate in a single treatment session. That is; 10 maximal muscular efforts, each 10 seconds in duration, can only be completed a second rest period is permitted between efforts.

- In North America, there is little information reported in the literature explaining the relationship of various rest periods between consecutive muscular efforts and fatigue. To verify the Soviet' claims and to better understand the technique itself, researchers on this continent must examine this mode of training more carefully.

The present study will observe one treatment session of ten 10 second electrically induced muscular efforts and, specifically, examine the effects of various rest periods on fatigue. Rest periods of 35, 50 and 65 seconds have been selected. The magnitude of the isometric forces produced in the quadriceps (thigh muscles) will be measured during the 10 stimulations. As the quadriceps tighten, the leg will attempt to straighten pushing against the padded, immovable lever arm, positioned just above your ankle. No voluntary effort on your part is required.

Each participant of the study will be requested to attend one to three practice sessions and three test sessions. During the practice period(s) you will be given an opportunity to become familiar with the purpose of the study, the testing procedure, and the sensation of electrical stimulation. Depending upon the speed at which you become comfortable with the set-up will determine the number of practice sessions necessary. During the following three test sessions you will be randomly assigned to one of three rest periods (35, 50 or 65 seconds). On each testing day, therefore, you will receive a different rest period. A minimum of 48 hours is required between any of the sessions. You will not be re-tested unless you report zero to minimal muscular stiffness.

The practice session(s) will take 30-4 minutes while approximately 20-30 minutes in length each. Total time commit therefore, is between 1 1/2-3 hours over a 1-4 period.

1.2

minutes while the test sessions will be total time commitment for each participant, period.

Each subject will be randomly assign to one of two methods of current application. Group 1 will receive the electrical current vision one electrode placed on the lower back and one electrode placed at the top of the thigh in the right groin area. Group 2 will receive the electrical stimulation via one electrode placed over the right groin region and the other electrode over the thigh musculature just above the right knee. The exact position of these electrodes will be determined and marked with a water insoluble pen in the practice session.

Once the electrodes have been positioned, each volunteer will be seated in the testing chair. The upper body, the right thigh, and the right leg will be stabilized by various straps and pads. Throughout the study, the knee will be positioned at a fixed angle (60 degrees of knee-bend).

The electrical stimulator will be to the left of you when you are seated in the testing chair. At all times, you will be in control of the intensity dial which you will gradually turn the as quickly and as high as your tolerance will allow. It is important to note that you will increase the intensity to a level in which you feel that you are accepting a maximally tolerated stimulus intensity. No dosage is assigned by the investigator. The maximal intensity is therefore individually determined you may turn down or terminate the current at any point during the study.

The first perception of the electrical stimulation will be a prickling sensation on the skin. The prickling will disappear as the intensity is increased, at which point the quadriceps will begin to tighten. At the maximally tolerated current intensity you will feel a very strong muscular contraction which will be similar to that which you have experienced in traditional resisted exercise. To reiterate, it is important that no voluntary effort be used during the electrically stimulated contractions.

The isometric force recording apparatus has been calibrated and will be continually calibrated throughout the study. The electrical muscle stimulator used in this study has been inspected by the Canadian Standards Association. The electrical stimulation techniques utilized in the present study are commonly used in existing physiotherapy clinics and are familiar to the investigator. The danger of electrical shock and/or burn is minimal.

Maximally tolerated intensities of electrical stimulation producing strong muscular contractions may cause some muscle discomfort either during or after the session. If experienced, this will be similar to the muscle soreness/stiffness which may be present during or after hard voluntary workouts. With each of you stretching before the stimulation sessions, the possibility of muscle tears is considered minimal. Muscular damage caused by electrical stimulation has not been reported in the literature to date. In fact, two recent studies conducted at this university with a similar method using maximally tolerated electrical stimulation have reported no complications to the subjects.

In the event of questions please feel free to contact Ms. Ann Cox (484-7824). You have the right to withdraw from participation at any time. No records nor photographs which would permit your identification will be made public or used in any medical article without your written permission.

The University of Alberta

#### Department of Physical Education

# INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR INVESTIGATIVE STUDY:

# EFFECTS OF VARIATION IN REST INTERVAL

# AND ELECTRODE PLACEMENT ON

# ISOMETRIC TORQUES INDUCED BY ELECTRICAL STIMULATION

Subject Consent (retained by investigator)

24.20

I,\_\_\_\_\_\_, do hereby agree to participate as a subject in the study entitled "Effects of Variation in Rest Interval and Electrode Placement on Isometric Torques Induced by Electrical Stimulation" conducted by Ms. Ann Cox. I have been requested to obtain a medical prior to my participation in this study. I have not experienced in the past, nor am I experiencing at present, any serious injury to my right knee or right hip which could interfere with, or be affected by; partaking in this study.

The investigator has continued me to the potential risks of the study - from minor electrical shock and/or built to muscle soreness and possible muscle scars. It has also been indicated to me that the method used in this study is a safe, componly practiced physiotherapy technique and that similar methods utilizing maximally tolerated electrical stimulation have been recently conducted at the university with no complications to the subjects reported. I have been advised that I may withdraw from the study at any time.

	•	Subje	ct's Signature		-
		n		· · · · ·	
		•	LUP & LAND		
•		<b>ب</b>		N	
			Address .	· ·	

Phone Number

Date

I was a witness during the above explanation and to the signature.

Witness' Signature

Date

ġ,



# TWO-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE SUMMARY TABLE FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 1

4) 	्सु SOURCE	SUM OF SQUARES	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	MEAN F SQUARES RATIO	PROBABILITY
•	A	4411.113	10.0	4411.113 3.516	0.007•
20- -	S-Within	<b>14503.375</b>	28	517.978	
	B	3908.848	·* 2 ·*	1954.424 10.997	0.001**
\$	AB	270.938	2	135.469 0.762	0.471
	BS-Within	9952.250	56	177.719	<b>3</b>

<u>ج</u>لية

g¶.

(5

١

O-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE SUMMARY TABLE FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA-2

	SOURCE	SUM OF SQUARES	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	PROBABILITY	र क्या अर्थ 
•	A	2035.562	laintragner Vitage 1	2035.562	7.317	•10.0	\$=4% + <u>5</u> -1
	S-Within	7789.531	28	- 278.198	<b>~</b> 5/6.3	· · ·	
	B	1895.325	2	947.662	10.379	0.001**	
	AB	102.590	2	51.295	0.562	0.573	
<b>4</b>	BS-Within	5113.332	56	91.309			<b>°</b>

\*significant at the  $p \le 0.05$  level \*significant at the  $p \le 0.01$  level 77

•. 3

# TWO-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE SUMMARY TABLE FOR PAD PLACEMENT (A) AND REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 3

SOURCE	SUM OF SQUARES	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO 、	PROBABILITY
A	12900.938	1	12900.938	2.888	0.100
S-Within	125062.000	28	4466.500		
В	21,67.500	2	1083.750	3.662	0.003*
AB	588.750	2	294.375	0.984	0.380
BS-Within	16758.000	56	299.250		њ,

# TWO-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE STATE TABLE FOR PAD PLACEMENT (4974) REST INTERVAL (B) FOR DATA 4

SOURCE	SUM OF SQUARES			MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	PROBABILITY
A	- 23974.688	- <u>.</u>	1	23974.688	4.303	0.047*
S-Within	155992.000		28	5571.141	•	, where I
» č B	97.500	(	2	48.750	0.155	0.857
AB	855.938	·]	2	427.969	1.358	0.266
BS-Within	17650.000		56	315.178		• • •

\* significant at the  $p \le 0.05$  level \*\* significant at the  $p \le 0.01$  level

: (

78

 ${}^{(2)}$ 





# OF TORQUE DECREMENT BETWEEN THE THREE REST INTERVALS

1.4

2



Data 2

(b)

•	35s	50s	65s
35s 50s	,	11.372*	18.843** 0.938
65s	· · ·	стан Солонула (1996) Солонула (1996)	
<b>a</b>			

TUKEY POST HOC COMPARISON OF MEAN TORQUE BETWEEN THE THREE REST INTERVALS





#### RISKS OF EMS

Similar to voluntary efforts, problems can arise from the use of EMS. Muscle strains, patellar dislocations, fractures of brittle bones as well as burns, electrical shock and skin irritations during stimulation treatments have been docummented. <sup>29 52 62</sup> However, the method of applying EMS via large electrode pads used in this study is similar to conventional faradic stimulation techniques employed by physiotherapists which have proved to be both safe and acceptable in terms of pain elicited. Notwithstanding, precautions were taken to reduce the likelihood of problems. The provisions made by the experimentor are outlined below.

SUBJECT'S STATE OF HEALTH: All participating subjects reported (in writing). having no previous nor present trauma, surgery or known pathology to the right hip or knee. which might have predisposed the subject to the potential risks of EMS. Each subject stated (verbally) having no known systemic infection.

COMMUNICATION: Before the subjects committed themselves to the study, detailed instructions were given by the investigator, who conducted all sessions. The possible risks of the study were outlined verbally, as well as written (in the Informed Consent Form). The sensations of EMS at the various intensity levels were described by the investigator and the subjects were encouraged in the practice session(s) to describe their perception of the current as they gradually increased the intensity dial.

WARM-UP: Prior to any session, the subject performed a minimum of five minutes of flexibility and stretching exercises, emphasizing the lower limb. It was important that the muscle was warm to facilitate the response of the muscle to the stimulation. In addition, once the subject was positioned for testing, he performed up to three warm-up trials against resistance in preparation for the experiment's task.

SKIN: It was not deemed necessary to shave any of the subjects' legs or backs. To decrease the high resistance of the skin to electrical current, the electrode pads were soaked in warm water prior to application. The moistened pads, consisting of several layers of cloth, were thick enough to make a good contact between the skin and the electrodes as well as thick

enough to absorb any chemicals which might have formed under the electrodes. Care was taken to remove any creases from the folded cloth which would have caused uneven distribution of current and, consequently, discomfort to the subject. The cloth pads were slightly larger on all sides than the electrode thereby reducing the danger of the metal plates coming in contact with the skin causing a concentration of current. Not only would the current concentration cause pain but there was also the possible risk of tissue damage from chemical action. Breaks in the skin likewise could create a concentration of current, as current travels to those tissues with least resistance.<sup>77</sup> Petroleum gel was applied to open wounds for prection.

ELECTRODES: To ensure a good contact between the electrode and the skin, the metal (lead) electrodes were secured by a tensor wrap. The flexible qualities of the electrodes enhanced the contiguity of the two surfaces. The size of the electrodes were large enough to prevent uncomfortable current densities. The corners of the electrodes were rounded to decrease the amount of current concentration that would have occurred if the electrode had become bent.<sup>73</sup> Firm, consistent contact and rounded corners of appropriately sized electrodes, therefore, minimized the discomfort experienced by the subjects while enhancing the force output of the muscle. Furthermore, the two methods of pad placement used in the study are conventional techniques used for improving strength with minimal associated pain.

STIMULATOR: The TECA SP5/T stimulator and the operating procedures followed are commuted cally. The selected current produced by the stimulator was presented in the alternation (AC) mode. Due to the biphasic nature of AC, the polarity of the electrodes changed with each phase of current. The ions, therefore, moved in one direction for one phase, and in the opposite direction during the other phase. If these two opposite phases are equal, which is the case with faradic stimulation," the chemicals formed under one electrode during the first phase will be neutralized during the next phase. The danger of toxic substances accumulating under electrodes is that they can cause skin irritation and electrolytic burns to the associated tissues.<sup>20</sup> <sup>77</sup>

Before the subject was connected to the current, the apparatus was thoroughly examined. Prior to the stimulation being turned on, all connections were checked and secured, and the intensity dial was returned to zero. To test the output, the moistened electrode pads were put face to face. As the intensity was increased throughout the entire range, the current needles of the milliampmeter and the voltmeter were observed for their smoothly rising movements. These routine procedures were followed as safeguards against electric shock which could have occurred as a result of a sudden increase in current intensity. Once the subject was set up, further measures of safety were heeded to decrease the risk of shock. The pads were well-soaked and well-secured to the subject to provide a consistent flow of current. Towels were supplied for the subject to dry sweaty palating it was the subject who controled the intensity dial, In addition, the subject was instructed to turn up the intensity smoothly so as to have no sudden surges in current.

MUSCLE SORENESS: Muscle soreness was the major difficulty experienced by the subject. The severity, though, was reduced by the warm-up period (both general and specific) prior to testing and the required minimum of 48 hours between any two sessions. In addition, because the subject was in control of the intensity dial, he could turn the dial up or down depending upon the sensation he was experiencing.

In conclusion, with the selected current and procedures followed, the subjects of this study were exposed to a minimal degree of physical risk.